

LUND UNIVERSITY

Prevalence, physical activity and work in patients with spondyloarthritis

Haglund, Emma

2013

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Haglund, E. (2013). *Prevalence, physical activity and work in patients with spondyloarthritis*. Department of Rheumatology, Lund University.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Prevalence, physical activity, and work in patients with spondyloarthritis

EMMA HAGLUND SECTION OF RHEUMATOLOGY | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



Avdelningen för Reumatologi Institutionen för kliniska vetenskaper, Lund Medicinska fakulteten, Lunds Universitet

Prevalence, physical activity, and work in patients with spondyloarthritis

Emma Haglund



AKADEMISK AVHANDLING

Som med vederbörligt tillstånd av Medicinska fakulteten vid Lunds Universitet för avläggande av doktorsexamen i medicinsk vetenskap kommer att offentligen försvaras i Belfragesalen, BMC, Lund, fredagen den 8 november 2013, kl 9.00

Fakultetsopponent Filosofie doktor, 1 amanuens Hanne Dagfinrud Diakonhjemmets Sykehus/Oslo Universitet, Norge

Huvudhandledare Professor Ingemar Petersson

Biträdande handledare Professor Stefan Bergman och docent Ann Bremander

Organization	Document name		
Section of Rheumatology	DOCTORAL DISSERTA	ATION	
Eaculty of Medicine, LUND UNIVERSITY			
racuity of Medicine, EOND ONLYERSTIT	Date of issue		
	8 November 2013		
Author(s)	Sponsoring organization		
Emma Haglund			
Title and subtitle			
Prevalence, physical activity, and work in patients w	vith spondyloarthritis		
Abstract Spondyloarthritis (SpA) is a group of interrelated infla ankylosing spondylitis (AS), psoriatic arthritis (PsA), arth undifferentiated spondyloarthritis (USpA), where stiffness morning stiffness, waking up at night, and improvement fil life-long, often with early onset, and can cause limitations has a negative effect on health-related quality of life. Th prevalence of SpA and to study the consequences for the work in a population-based cohort of patients seeking heal The studies are based on a cohort of patients with SpA, searching for 12 ICD-10 codes for SpA that had led to surveys in 2009 and 2011 were sent to all the patients in th of the studies II, III, and IV. Study I presented an estimation of SpA prevalence based years), and equally common in women and men. The prev in PsA, 0.0015% in Aa-IBD, and 0.10% in USpA with diff Study II dealt with the proportion of patients who met the of ten patients with SpA met the recommendations, mon higher proportion in the SpAScania cohort than in the genes Studies III and IV examined the patterns of reduced produ- Just under half of the patients with SpA reported reduced p women than in men. Reduced productivity at work was patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) such as ra disease activity, lower physical function, lower self-efficac To conclude, 45 individuals out of 10,000 have a diagna consequences of the disease. The findings presented in th early stage at risk of a worse prognosis using simple clinic treatment, and care for patients with SpA.	ammatory rheumatic disea aritis-associated inflammator and pain are key symptom rom exercise are common c is in physical function, affect is on physical function, affect is on a society reg th care. identified through the Skå a doctor's consultation 200 e cohort ≥18 years and data on almost 4,000 patients. If valence in different subgrout erent sex distribution patter: WHO recommendations for the often in women than in tral Swedish population. ctivity at work both cross-sec roductivity at work, and mod associated with, and could educed health-related quali- ty, worse mental health and psis of SpA, and affected in- its thesis could help clinicia- cal questions in routine prac	ses with the sub-diagnoses rry bowel disease (Aa-IBD), s. Insidious onset back pain, haracteristics. The disease is ting the ability to work, and nt work was to describe the parding physical activity and one Health Care Register by 03–2007. Two questionnaire from these formed the basis it was 0.45% in adults (\geq 15 ps was 0.12% in AS, 0.25% ons. physical activity. Seven out men, and with a somewhat ectionally and longitudinally. ore reduction was reported in d be predicted from several ty of life (HRQoL), higher low education level. ndividuals report significant ans to identify patients at an tice, and tailor the activities, ported outcomes	
Classification system and/or index terms (II any)			
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language	
		English	
ISSN and Key IIIIe 1652-8220 Jund University Faculty of medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series		978-91-87449-79-6	
2013:107	710 71 01 11 7 7 7 0		
Recipient's notes	Number of pages	Price	
	Security classification		
Distribution by (name and address)			

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above mentioned dissertation.

Signature Aunaprafund Date 26/9-13

Section of Rheumatology Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund Faculty of Medicine Lund University

Prevalence, physical activity, and work in patients with spondyloarthritis

Emma Haglund



Thesis 2013

Copyright © Emma Haglund

Contact address

Emma Haglund Spenshult Research and Developement centre Spenshult S-313 92 Oskarström Sweden E-mail: emma.haglund@spenshult.se

Cover page illustration made by Henrik Karlsson.

ISBN 978-91-87449-79-6 ISSN 1652-8220 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2013:107

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2013

Every day when I can run is a good day

In loving memory of my parents Gittan and Jan

Contents

List of papers	11
Thesis at a glance	12
Authors' contributions	14
Abbreviations	16
Funding	17
Introduction	18
Background	19
Spondyloarthritis	19
History	19
Definitions	19
Classification	20
Subgroups of spondyloarthritis	20
Ankylosing spondylitis	22
Psoriatic arthritis	23
Arthritis associated with inflammatory bowel disease	23
Undifferentiated spondyloarthritis	24
ICD-10 codes	24
Occurrence	24
Characteristics	25
Consequences	25
Gender perspectives	26
Treatment	26
The International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health	27
Physiotherapy	28
Physiotherapy in spondyloarthritis	28
Physical activity	29
Definitions of physical activity	29
Recommendations for physical activity	30
Assessment of physical activity	31
Physical activity in individuals with spondyloarthritis	31
Work productivity	32
Definitions of work productivity	32
Assessment of work productivity	33
Absenteeism	33
Presenteeism	34
Rationale for this thesis	35
Aims	36
Methods	
Study design	37
The Skåne Health Care Register	37
Study population	38

The SpAScania cohort	
Data sources	
SpAScania questionnaire	
The Swedish National Institute of Public Health	40
The Swedish Social Insurance Agency	40
Procedures	41
Study I	41
Study II	42
Study III	42
Study IV	42
Variables studied	42
Descriptive data	43
Physical activity	43
Fatigue and Pain	44
Health-related quality of life	44
Disease activity and Physical function	44
Anxiety and Depression	45
Self-efficacy	45
Presenteeism	45
Work productivity and activity impairment questionnaire	45
Statistical methods	48
Ethics	49
Results	50
Prevalence of spondyloarthritis and its subtypes (Paper I)	50
Differences in physical activity pattern (Paper II)	51
Work productivity (Paper III)	55
Predictors of presenteeism (Paper IV)	56
General discussion	59
Prevalence of spondyloarthritis	59
Disease consequences	60
Disease consequences for physical activity	60
Disease consequences for work productivity	62
Presenteeism	62
Absenteeism	63
SpAScania questionnaire	64
Strengths and limitations	65
Strengths	65
Limitations	65
Clinical implications	67
Summary in English	69
Summary in Swedish	71
Acknowledgements	73
References	75
Appendix	
Questions on physical activity	
Questions on work productivity	89
Papers I-IV	

List of papers

Haglund E, Bremander AB, Petersson IF, Strömbeck B, Bergman S, Jacobsson LTH, Turkiewicz A, Geborek P, Englund M.

Prevalence of chronic spondyloarthritis and its subtypes in southern Sweden. Ann Rheum Dis. 2011;70(6):943-8 (Paper I)

Haglund E, Bergman S, Petersson IF, Jacobsson LTH, Strömbeck B, Bremander AB. Differences in physical activity patterns in patients with spondyloarthritis. Arthritis Care Res. 2012;64(12):1886-94 (Paper II)

Haglund E, Bremander AB, Bergman S, Jacobsson LTH, Petersson IF. Work productivity in a population-based cohort of patients with spondyloarthritis. Rheumatology. 2013;52(9):1708-14 (Paper III)

Haglund E, Petersson IF, Bremander AB, Bergman S. Presenteeism in spondyloarthritis is associated with activity impairment and can be predicted by clinically used patient-reported outcome measures. Submitted (Paper IV)

The papers are reprinted with the kind permission of the publishers.

Thesis at a glance

Study I - Prevalence of spondyloarthritis and its subgroups in Sweden

Patients and methods: 3,852 patients identified from the Skåne Health Care Register (SHCR). By searching for all health-care-seeking patients with spondyloarthritis (SpA) in the SHCR, the SpAScania cohort was created. In this population-based study the prevalence of SpA and its subgroups in Sweden was estimated.

Conclusions: The prevalence of SpA was 0.45% in the adult population (\geq 15 years old), and was as common in women as in men. Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) and ankylosing spondylitis (AS) were the two most prevalent subgroups, followed by undifferentiated spondyloarthritis (USpA) and arthritis associated with inflammatory bowel disease (Aa-IBD) with prevalence figures of 0.25%, 0.12%, 0.10%, and 0.0015% respectively.



Prevalence of spondyloarthritis. White bars: women; grey bars: men.

Study II - Differences in physical activity patterns in patients with SpA

Patients and methods: A cross-sectional population-based cohort study. 2,167 patients from the SpAScania cohort answered the SpAScania questionnaire in 2009. The questionnaire included inquiries on patterns of physical activity. The proportion meeting the physical activity recommendation was estimated and comparisons with data from the Swedish population were made.

Conclusions: Seven out of 10 patients with SpA met the recommendations on physical activity, more frequently in women than in men and with a somewhat higher proportion in the SpAScania cohort than in the general population. Young women with SpA tended to be less active than their counterparts in the general population.



Comparison with the general population, Meeting the physical activity recommendations in women and men with spondyloarthritis in different age groups and for meeting physical activity recommendations in different subgroups of spondyloarthritis.

Study III - Work productivity in patients with SpA

Patients and methods: A cross-sectional population-based cohort study on work productivity and associated factors. 1,773 patients in working age (18–67 years) from the SpAScania cohort answered the SpAScania questionnaire in 2009.

Conclusions: Almost half of the patients with SpA reported some reduction in work productivity and women reported a higher mean reduction than men. Reduced productivity at work was associated with higher disease activity, lower physical function, reduced quality of life, lower self-efficacy, worse mental health, and low education level in patients with SpA.

1 5		
Potential associations	β-est	95% CI
Disease activity (BASDAI)	7.8	(7.1;8.5)
Physical function (BASFI)	7.3	(6.8; 7.9)
Quality of life (EQ-5D)	-9.6	(-10.5;-8.8)
Self-efficacy pain and symptoms (ASES)	-0.5	(-0.6;-0.4)
Anxiety (HAD)	2.3	(1.9;2.6)
Depression (HAD)	3.4	(3.0;3.8)
Education level		
≤ 12 years	3.9	(0.8; 7.0)
>12 years	0	

Associations between reduced productivety at work and associated factors.

Bold text: significant level <0.05.

Study IV - Predictors of presenteeism in patients with SpA

Patients and methods: A longitudinal study to assess predictors of presenteeism and its relationship to activity impairment outside work in patients with SpA. 1,253 patients (18–67 years) from the SpAScania cohort answered both the SpAScania questionnaire in 2009 and the follow-up questionnaire in 2011. *Conclusions:* Presenteeism (reduced productivity at work) was predicted from several patient-reported outcome measures common in clinical practice: reduced quality of life, higher disease activity, lower physical function, lower self-efficacy pain, anxiety, depression, smoking, and low education level. There was a clear association between presenteeism and activity impairment outside work.



Associations in 2011 between presenteeism and activity impairment in women and men with spondyloarthritis.

Authors' contributions

Paper I

Study design: Emma Haglund, Ann Bremander, Ingemar Petersson, Britta Strömbeck, Stefan Bergman, Lennart Jacobsson, Aleksandra Turkiewicz, Pierre Geborek, Martin Englund

Data collection: Emma Haglund, Martin Englund, Britta Strömbeck, Aleksandra Turkiewicz, Pierre Geborek

Data analysis: Emma Haglund, Ann Bremander, Ingemar Petersson, Britta Strömbeck, Stefan Bergman, Lennart Jacobsson, Aleksandra Turkiewicz, Pierre Geborek, Martin Englund

Manuscript writing: Emma Haglund

Manuscript revision: Ann Bremander, Ingemar Petersson, Britta Strömbeck, Stefan Bergman, Lennart Jacobsson, Aleksandra Turkiewicz, Pierre Geborek, Martin Englund

Paper II

Study design: Emma Haglund, Stefan Bergman, Ingemar Petersson, Lennart Jacobsson, Britta Strömbeck, Ann Bremander

Data collection: Emma Haglund, Ann Bremander, Britta Strömbeck

Data analysis: Emma Haglund, Stefan Bergman, Ingemar Petersson, Lennart Jacobsson, Ann Bremander

Manuscript writing: Emma Haglund

Manuscript revision: Stefan Bergman, Ingemar Petersson, Lennart Jacobsson, Britta

Strömbeck, Ann Bremander

Paper III

Study design: Emma Haglund, Ann Bremander, Stefan Bergman, Lennart Jacobsson, Ingemar Petersson

Data collection: Emma Haglund, Ann Bremander, Ingemar Petersson

Data analysis: Emma Haglund, Ann Bremander, Stefan Bergman, Lennart Jacobsson, Ingemar Petersson

Manuscript writing: Emma Haglund

Manuscript revision: Ann Bremander, Stefan Bergman, Lennart Jacobsson, Ingemar Petersson

Paper IV

Study design: Emma Haglund, Ingemar Petersson, Ann Bremander, Stefan Bergman

Data collection: Emma Haglund, Ann Bremander

Data analysis: Emma Haglund, Ingemar Petersson, Ann Bremander, Stefan Bergman

Manuscript writing: Emma Haglund

Manuscript revision: Ingemar Petersson, Ann Bremander, Stefan Bergman

Abbreviations

Aa-IBD	Arthritis associated with Inflammatory Bowel Disease
AS	Ankylosing Spondylitis
ASAS	Assessment of SpondyloArthritis international Society
BASDAI	Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index
BASFI	Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Functional Index
EQ-5D	EuroQol-5 Dimensions
ESP	European Standard Population
ESSG	European Spondyloarthropathy Study Group
HAD	Hospital Anxiety and Depression scale
HEPA	Health-Enhancing Physical Activity
HLA-B27	Human Leukocyte Antigen B27
HRQoL	Health-Related Quality of Life
IBD	Inflammatory Bowel Disease
IBP	Inflammatory Back Pain
ICF	International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health
ICD-10	International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision
JIA	Juvenile Idiophatic Arthritis
MI-PA _{rec}	Recommendations for Moderate-Intensity Physical Activity
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
NRS	Numeric Rating Scale
NSAID	Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs
OMERACT	Outcome Measures in Rheumatoid Arthritis Clinical Trials
PsA	Psoriatic Arthritis
PROM	Patient-Reported Outcome Measures
PT	Physiotherapist
RA	Rheumatoid Arthritis
ReA	Reactive Arthritis
SHCR	Skåne Health Care Register
SNIPH	Swedish National Institute of Public Health
SpA	Spondyloarthritis
SPR	Swedish Population Register
SSIA	Swedish Social Insurance Agency
SSQ	SpAScania Questionnaire
TNF	Tumour Necrosis Factor
USpA	Undifferentiated Spondyloarthritis
VI-PA _{rec}	Recommendations for Vigorous-Intensity Physical Activity
WHO	World Health Organization
WHO _{rec}	World Health Organization global recommendations for physical
	activity for health
WPAI	Work Productivity and Activity Impairment questionnaire

Funding

The studies presented in this thesis were supported by Region Skåne, the Swedish Social Insurance Agency, the Swedish Research Council, the Österlund and Kock Foundations, King Gustav V 80-year Fund, the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University, the Stig Thunes Foundation, the Norrbacka-Eugenia Foundation, the Swedish Rheumatism Foundation, the Maggie Stephens Foundation, and the Capio Research Foundation (all Sweden) and with unrestricted research grants from Abbott/Abbvie and Pfizer.

Introduction

Chronic back pain is a major health and socioeconomic problem in the western world (Bergman et al. 2001). Although our knowledge of the causes of back pain is growing, there is still a need to describe more distinct clinical subgroups of back pain. One subgroup is inflammatory back pain, which can be related to the group of interrelated inflammatory rheumatic diseases spondyloarthritis (SpA) (Jordan et al. 2013; Weisman et al. 2013), which is the subject of this thesis. SpA is in most cases life-long with periodic fluctuations, and has an impact on several aspects of life. The recommended treatment includes both pharmacological therapy and non-pharmacological management. In addition to an early diagnosis followed by relevant pharmacological therapy, coping with the disease is an important issue for the patient. Regular physical activity and exercise are cornerstones in the management: the skills of the physiotherapist (PT) are needed, and as a PT one often meets these individuals at an early stage in the course of the disease. The diagnosis of SpA has previously been based on observed measures, but now also includes patient-reported measures to obtain a more complete picture of the patient. Furthermore, the physiotherapy management has shifted from passive care to a more active treatment, including coaching and regime. The aim is to achieve a more independent patient who is better able to participate in and take responsibility for the care and treatment opportunities. The physiotherapy interventions for these patients have also moved to a greater extent from hospital-based in-patient care in specialist clinics to care given at outpatient hospital clinics and to long-term primary care based services, which places new demands on the care system and on health-care providers regarding greater flexibility. As a practicing PT with regular contact with this group of patients, I have seen the need for better knowledge of how to coach these patients in an evidence-based, individualized but varied way. The aim of this thesis was to improve our knowledge of the consequences of SpA, both for the individual and for society as a whole. Hopefully, this work will also be an update on the occurrence of different forms of SpA, and will help to identify relevant factors for a better or worse prognosis. This might lead to earlier diagnosis and contribute to successful and often long-term collaboration in clinical practice for this disorder.

Background

Spondyloarthritis

History

In archaeological studies, spondylitis or ankylosis of the vertebra has been found in three-thousand-year-old skeletons of Egyptian mummies, suggesting the occurrence already then of the disease now known as ankylosing spondylitis (AS) (Leden 1994; Sieper et al. 2002). The first literature description of the disease dates to the mid-1500s, when Colombo wrote his book "De Re Anatomica" in which he described skeletons with abnormalities typical of the disease (Sieper et al. 2002). Centuries later, the Irish doctor Bernard Connor described a human skeleton with marked spine curvature and also fused vertebrae and joints. He was also aware of the possible consequences of the disease on movement and respiration during the patient's lifetime. The disease was described by several doctors in the mid-1800s, but classical descriptions were made by Wladimir von Bechterew (1893), Adolph Strümpel (1897), and Pierre Marie (1898) at the end of that century. Along with Conner, they are regarded as those who first described the disease. The Russian neurologist von Bechterew also gave rise to the term Bechterew's disease, which was originally used in Sweden and other countries (Leden 1994; Sieper et al. 2002). Later on, advances in clinical sciences and medicine and the development of modern radiographic techniques helped to shape the modern concept of the disease (Sieper et al. 2002).

Definitions

The term spondyloarthritis (SpA) comes from the Greek terms "spondylos" (i.e. vertebra), "arthron" (i.e. joint), and "itis" (i.e. inflammation), and means arthritis of the peripheral and spinal joints (Reveille *et al.* 2005). The term SpA covers a range of diseases with clinical similarities, and in the literature various terms describing the same syndromes sometimes cause confusion. The terms SpA, spondyloarthropathy, and, occasionally without an intermediate "o", spondylarthropathy and spondyloarthritis are used interchangeably and are also seen in plural forms with the endings -arthritides or -arthropathies (Claudepierre *et al.* 2012; Bijlsma *et al.* 2012). The related term spondylopathy refers to a disease of the vertebrae itself, and spondylitis is an inflammation of the spine without other illness, are both other diseases. In this thesis, the term spondyloarthritis with the abbreviation SpA is used.

Classification

There are no diagnostic criteria for the group of SpA diseases. To promote a common language and make research studies comparable, classification criteria have been developed instead. Such criteria may also serve as a guideline for clinicians when making a diagnosis. Classification criteria are based on frequent clinical features of the disease, with varying degrees of sensitivity and specificity. These are then combined and compared against clinical diagnoses (the gold standard) in order to define a patient group with an appropriate balance between sensitivity and specificity (Gran 1999; Rudwaleit et al. 2010). For a long time, the classification criteria for these patients have focused on the more severe subgroup AS, the archetype of SpA. Early classification criteria for this disease were introduced in 1961, but a better known set of criteria for AS was the New York criteria, which included definite radiographic changes (Moll et al. 1973a). In the early 1990s, classification criteria for SpA based on clinical information were developed by the European Spondyloarthropathy Study Group (ESSG) and Amor (Amor et al. 1990; Dougados et al. 1991; Sieper et al. 2009a). To improve sensitivity and specificity and to include magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in the diagnosis setting, the international Assessment of Spondyloarthritis Society (ASAS) has worked for an international agreement on classification criteria for SpA (Rudwaleit et al. 2009b; Rudwaleit et al. 2009c; Sieper et al. 2009a; Rudwaleit 2010; Rudwaleit et al. 2011). These criteria were developed to classify individuals in clinical research in a standardized manner, not primarily to diagnose individuals in clinical practice. The ASAS's proposed criteria also include classifications for peripheral forms of SpA, where the earlier classifications were considered to be insufficient (Rudwaleit et al. 2011).

Subgroups of spondyloarthritis

In the group of SpA diseases, the following subgroups are included: AS, psoriatic arthritis (PsA), arthritis associated with inflammatory bowel disease (Aa-IBD), undifferentiated SpA (USpA), reactive arthritis (ReA), and juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) (Dougados et al. 1991; Baraliakos et al. 2012). According to the ASAS group, the SpA is also differentiated into either axial SpA or peripheral SpA depending on the main symptoms (Figures 1, 2). The axial SpA group is also divided into AS and non-radiographic axial SpA where the term non-radiographic axial SpA is meant to cover a stage of the disease before occurrence of radiographic damage (Kiltz et al. 2012; Sieper et al. 2013). Classification criteria for the two most frequent subgroups, AS (Moll et al. 1973a; van der Linden et al. 1984) and PsA (Moll et al. 1973b) existed before the term SpA was introduced. The PsA classification has since been updated (Taylor et al. 2006). In this thesis, the term spondyloarthritis is used to refer to the subgroups AS, PsA, Aa-IBD, and USpA (Table 1, page 22). The additional subgroups belonging to the SpA group will not be discussed further. These are ReA and JIA. ReA has a more non-chronic character with peripheral arthritis occurring after a primary infection elsewhere in the body. Features of the JIA manifest initially as peripheral arthritis or enthesitis and include severe forms of iridocyclitis, sometimes with visual impairment in children before the age of 16. The disease can give both axial and/or peripheral symptoms and can also include extraarticular manifestations (Bijlsma et al. 2012).



Figure 1. The ASAS classification criteria for axial and peripheral spondyloarthritis



Figure 2. Axial and peripheral spondyloarthritis (SpA). This Venn diagram shows the relationship between the different diagnostic subgroups of SpA presented in the thesis. Also included are the two different clinical presentations of mainly axial or mainly peripheral SpA. During the course of disease, a particular patient can move between the different sectors/subgroups. AS: ankylosing spondylitis; PsA: psoriatic arthritis; Aa-IBD: arthritis associated inflammatory bowel disease; USpA: undifferentiated spondyloarthritis.

Subgroups	ICD-10 code	Diagnosis
AS	M45	Ankylosing spondylitis
PsA	L40.5	Psoriatic arthritis with joint disease
	M07.0	Distal interphalangeal psoriatic arthropathy
	M07.1	Arthritis mutilans
	M07.2	Psoriatic spondylitis
	M07.3	Other psoriatic arthropathies
Aa-IBD	M07.4	Arthropathy in Crohn's disease
	M07.5	Arthropathy in ulcerative colitis
USpA	M46.0	Spinal enthesopathy
	M46.1	Sacroilitis, not elsewhere classified
	M46.8	Other specified inflammatory spondylopathies
	M46.9	Inflammatory spondylopathy, unspecified

Table 1. The International Classification of Diseases (ICD) 10 diagnostic codes for spondyloarthritis.

AS: ankylosing spondylitis; PsA: psoriatric arthritis; Aa-IBD: inflammatory arthritis associated with inflammatory bowel disease; USpA: undifferentiated spondyloarthritis.

Ankylosing spondylitis

AS is the disease archetype among the SpA subgroups. Prevalence is estimated to be in the 0.06–0.9% range in the western world (Carter et al. 1979; Kaipiainen-Seppanen et al. 1997; Braun et al. 1998; Andrianakos et al. 2003; Alamanos et al. 2004; Bakland et al. 2005; Saraux et al. 2005; Helmick et al. 2008; Geirsson et al. 2010) with an incidence of 6/100,000 per year (Silman 2001). The age at onset of AS is <30 years and the disease is more common in men (Carter et al. 1979; Khan 1995; Sieper et al. 2002; Feldtkeller et al. 2003; Alamanos et al. 2004; Bakland et al. 2005; Trontzas et al. 2005). Inflammatory back pain is the leading feature, but enthesopathy, peripheral arthritis, and extra-articular manifestations are also included in the pathology; the association with the human leucocyte antigen (HLA-B27) epitope is strongest in this subgroup (Baraliakos et al. 2009; Rudwaleit et al. 2009b; Rudwaleit et al. 2009c). The development of skeletal abnormalities such as erosions in sacro-iliac joints and syndesmophytes of the spine are more profound for patients with AS than for those with other SpAs, giving larger impairments in several dimensions of life. Pain, fatigue (Ward 1999; Zink et al. 2000; Hamilton-West et al. 2009), stiffness (Ward 1999; Hamilton-West et al. 2009; Halvorsen et al. 2012; Healey et al. 2013), sleeping problems (Dagfinrud et al. 2005a), disability and function limitations (Zink et al. 2000; Ward 2002; Ariza-Ariza et al. 2003; Dagfinrud et al. 2004; Dagfinrud et al. 2005a; Mustur et al. 2009; Healey et al. 2013; Ward et al. 2013), and impaired health-related quality of life (HRQoL) (Ward 1999; Ariza-Ariza et al. 2003; Bostan et al. 2003; Da Costa et al. 2004; Brodin et al. 2007; Mustur et al. 2009; Bodur et al. 2011) are common. Lower

cardiorespiratory fitness has also been reported (Hagel *et al.* 2010; Halvorsen *et al.* 2012) and patients with AS have an increased risk of extra-articular manifestations such as uveitis, bowel diseases, heart, lung, skin, bone and kidney involvement, and increased risk of cardiovascular co-morbidities (Han *et al.* 2006; Bremander *et al.* 2011; El Maghraoui 2011). Self-reported anxiety and depression have been found to be associated with higher disease activity and lower physical function (Martindale *et al.* 2006). Furthermore, AS patients have higher health-care consumption and more prescribed medications than the general population (Strombeck *et al.* 2010).

Psoriatic arthritis

PsA is the other major subgroup of SpA. For PsA, the prevalence in different studies has varied between 0.06% and 0.29% (Braun et al. 1998; Shbeeb et al. 2000; Andrianakos et al. 2003; Saraux et al. 2005; Adomaviciute et al. 2008; Wilson et al. 2009) and incidence varies from 3.4 to 8 per 100,000 per year (Gladman et al. 2005). The age of PsA onset is around 40 years of age and the peak incidence is at 45-54 years of age (Olivieri et al. 2002; Gladman et al. 2005). Some studies have found an equal occurrence in men and women (Alamanos et al. 2004; Makredes et al. 2009), some have found that it is more frequent in men (Kaipiainen-Seppanen et al. 1996; Wilson et al. 2009), and others have found that it occurs more frequently in women (Shbeeb et al. 2000). To some extent, PsA has similar clinical features to those of AS but with some differences, such as predominance of peripheral arthritis and enthesitis. The affection of the spine is also more random both in location, degree of involvement, and type of symptoms. The disease is thus characterized by peripheral arthritis, enthesitis, dactylitis, and spondylitis in addition to skin and/or nail involvement. Joint and skin disease co-exist in the vast majority of cases, although it is not mandatory (Han et al. 2006; Tobin et al. 2010; Zochling et al. 2010; Zhu et al. 2012; Mease 2013). It has been suggested that there could be gender differences, with women reporting worse HRQoL and impaired function with symmetrical polyarthritis and men having more axial involvement and radiographic joint damage (Zochling et al. 2010; Eder et al. 2013).

Arthritis associated with inflammatory bowel disease

Aa-IBD is a less common group of arthritis, where there is an association with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). Different subtypes have been proposed, with regard to a more axial or peripheral arthritis involvement (Colombo *et al.* 2009). Previous prevalence studies have been based solely on patients with an IBD or with an AS. Approximately 5-10% of patients with AS also have IBD, but an even higher proportion has subclinical bowel inflammation. Between 4% and 10% of patients with IBD have concomitant AS. A minor proportion of patients with SpA who have subclinical bowel inflammation can also progress to development of IBD (Mielants *et al.* 2005; Rudwaleit *et al.* 2006).

Undifferentiated spondyloarthritis

USpA includes several forms of SpA, for example early AS (before definite radiographic abnormalities), but it can also be a mixture of SpA features such as inflammatory back pain (IBP), enthesopathy, uveitis, or arthritis that cannot be diagnosed as an AS, PsA, or Aa-IBD. These patients may have a milder form of disease in that they are less likely to develop syndesmophytes, although data on patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) suggest they have at least as severe disease from a patient point of view (Kumar *et al.* 2001; Rudwaleit *et al.* 2009a; Lindström *et al.* 2013). The progression to AS strongly depends on the clinical features at baseline (Zochling *et al.* 2010), but the epidemiology of this subgroup is not well studied.

ICD-10 codes

The International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision (ICD-10) is a well-accepted coding system that refers to a disease, disorder, injury or trauma. It was endorsed in 1990 by the Forty-Third World Health Assembly and in Sweden it is used in the clinic for register recoding. The term SpA includes several different ICD-10 codes with limited correlation to the modern classification system for SpA presented above. For the subgroups AS, PsA, and Aa-IBD, there are broadly consistent ICD-10 codes according to the classification criteria (Table 1, page 22). Currently, however, the ICD-10 codes for the subgroup USpA do not correspond to the differentiation between mainly peripheral or axial forms of disease proposed by the ASAS criteria (Figure 1, page 21). The subgroup ReA (arthritis in lyme disease, infectious and reactive arthropathies, and other postinfectious arthropathies in diseases classified elsewhere) also has comparable ICD-10 codes, but it is not considered further in this thesis due to its more non-chronic nature.

Occurrence

SpA is among the most common of more than one hundred different rheumatic diseases, and the prevalence ranges from 0.3% to 1.9% (Braun *et al.* 1998; Saraux *et al.* 1999; Bruges-Armas *et al.* 2002; Andrianakos *et al.* 2003; Saraux *et al.* 2005; Trontzas *et al.* 2005; De Angelis *et al.* 2007; Adomaviciute *et al.* 2008; Zeng *et al.* 2008; Reveille *et al.* 2012) (Table 2). Variation in methods used and classification criteria applied have contributed to the differences in prevalence estimates. Earlier estimates were often based on the two most common subgroups: AS and PsA. SpA is correlated to the presence of HLA-B27, which varies between different countries and among ethnic groups. The prevalence of SpA is higher in populations with a higher prevalence of HLA-B27 (Boyer *et al.* 1994; Khan 1995; Alenius *et al.* 2002), which to some extent accounts for the lower prevalence of SpA in Asian populations (Hukuda *et al.* 2001). The link between SpA and HLA-B27 also differs between subgroups, and AS has the most clear association (Zochling *et al.* 2010).

Author	Study population (n)	Prevalens of SpA
Braun (1998)	Blood donors, Germany (348)	1.9%
Saraux (1999)	Population-based, France (3,189)	0.47%
Hukuda (2001)	Review of medical records, Japan (990)	0.0095%
Bruges-Armas (2002)	Population-based, Portugal (490)	1.6%
Andrianakos (2003)	Population-based, Greece (8,740)	0.49%
Saraux (2005)	Population-based, France (9,395)	0.30%
Trontzas (2005)	Population-based, Greece (14,233)	0.49%
De Angelis (2007)	Population-based, Italy (2,155)	1.06%
Adomaviciute (2008)	Population-based, Lithuania (4,244)	0.84%
Zeng (2008)	Review of population-based surveys in China (3,915)	0.89%
Haglund (2011)	Population-based, Sweden (849,253)	0.45%
Reveille (2012)	Population-based, USA (5,013)	0.9-1.4%

Table 2. The prevalence of spondyloarthritis, reported in a selection of studies of different design and with different sets of criteria, including the study presented in Paper I.

Characteristics

SpA is an autoimmune chronic disease, typically with a succession of flares and partial remissions. It contains a group of interrelated diagnoses with several common themes such as IBP, peripheral arthritis, enthesitis at the heel or other sites, dactylitis, various extra-articular manifestations (such as uveitis, skin involvement, and IBD), and association with HLA-B27 antigen (Khan *et al.* 1990; Dougados *et al.* 1991; Sieper *et al.* 2006; Baraliakos *et al.* 2011). Axial SpA onset occurs before the age of 45 years, often in adolescence or in young adults. The early onset for most patients with SpA means that it will affect them throughout their entire life. The main clinical symptoms are pain and stiffness of the axial skeleton consistent with IBP. IBP is classified as age at onset of <40 years, back pain for >3 months, insidious onset, morning stiffness, often waking up at night or in the early morning which is remedied by getting up, and improvement from exercise but not from rest (Sieper *et al.* 2009b). The disease can cause inflammation in the sacroiliac joints, vertebrae, and adjacent joints and tissues, and to varying degrees gradually leads to bone fusion in the axial skeleton (Braun *et al.* 2007).

Consequences

As with other rheumatic diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA), SpA also affects patients' health in a wider sense. Key symptoms are stiffness and pain, resulting in functional impairment (Heikkila *et al.* 2002) and activity limitations (Heikkila *et al.* 2002; Da Costa *et al.* 2004; Singh *et al.* 2009; Kiltz *et al.* 2012). Fatigue (Da Costa *et al.* 2004) and impaired HRQoL are other cardinal symptoms affecting the patient (Heikkila *et al.* 2002;

Da Costa *et al.* 2004; Singh *et al.* 2009; Kiltz *et al.* 2012) that may have consequences for family relationships, leisure time activities, work ability, and social interaction. Problems of self-reported anxiety and depression are reported more frequently in patients with SpA than in the general population of Sweden (Meesters *et al.* 2013). Patients with SpA and AS appear to be comparable in some clinical variables (Rudwaleit *et al.* 2009a; Kiltz *et al.* 2012) but most of the research data have been based on the AS subgroup.

Gender perspectives

In some studies, the overall occurrence of SpA has been reported to be as common in women as in men (Boyer *et al.* 1994; Saraux *et al.* 1999; Saraux *et al.* 2005; Adomaviciute *et al.* 2008; Reveille *et al.* 2012), but according to other European studies men are more frequently affected (Braun *et al.* 1998; Andrianakos *et al.* 2003). A more severe disease with structural damage and typical IBP has been reported in men with SpA, while more cervical and thoracic spine involvement, enthesopathy, and widespread pain have been described for women (Boyer *et al.* 2000; Rudwaleit *et al.* 2009a; Roussou *et al.* 2011; Slobodin *et al.* 2011). Women with SpA are often reported worse scores in PROMs on pain, fatigue, HRQoL, physical function, and mental function (Roussou *et al.* 2011; Tournadre *et al.* 2013).

Treatment

There are few treatment recommendations for SpA in the literature (Braun et al. 2011; Baraliakos et al. 2012). The most successful and recommended treatment for AS, as stated by ASAS, is a combination of pharmacological therapy and non-pharmacological treatment, a treatment that is also applicable to patients with other subgroups of SpA (Braun et al. 2011). The main aim is to improve HRQoL and to preserve function, activity and participation by controlling symptoms and inflammation, while preventing structural damage. Physiotherapy modalities are still an essential part of the management, almost throughout the entire progression of the disease (Sieper et al. 2009a; Braun et al. 2011). Initially, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are recommended for AS and for other SpAs that affect the axial skeleton. In cases where there is an insufficient response, treatment with anti-tumour necrosis factor (TNF) blockers has been suggested (Baraliakos et al. 2009; Sieper et al. 2009a; van der Heijde et al. 2011). Updated recommendations for AS have been published recently (Braun et al. 2011; van der Heijde et al. 2011; van den Berg et al. 2012) and there are also national guidelines in Sweden (National Board of Health and Welfare 2012). The effect of various interventions, including biologics, appears to be even greater in early disease (Sieper et al. 2012). For some time, a change from hospital-based in-patient and out-patient care to long-term, primary care based services for chronic conditions has become necessary to meet demands and fulfil the goals of health care (Edwards et al. 2008), even though the most severely ill and those on biological therapy are still referred to rheumatology units. This

gives more responsibility and assignments in primary care, but also the patient himself have to take responsibility for their health. Emphasis is put on long-term management and living a healthy life supported by the primary care services, with intermittent support from specialist care.

The International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health

To provide a standard framework for description of health and health-related states, the World Health Organization (WHO) presented the widely used International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) in 2001(WHO 2012a). This framework is based on the bio-psychosocial model that was introduced by Engel in the 1970s (Engel 1977). The aim of introducing this framework was to provide a model for description of the disease problem, treatment, and for evaluation of the outcome, and the link between them. The framework is useful for everyone in the health-care team who is in contact with the patient. The ICF offers a universal classification system and is a useful tool when discussing and describing health and disability across different professions and in different parts of the world (Stucki 2005; WHO 2012a).

The ICF, with its emphasis on functioning and disability, is structured around the components: body functions, body structure, activities, and participation. Each component can be expressed in both positive and negative terms: functioning (body functions, body structure, activities, and participations) and disability (impairments, activity limitations, and participation restrictions). The main components also interact with contextual aspects such as environmental and personal factors.

There is no ICF core set available for the whole SpA group, but there are the ASAS ICF core set for the subgroup diagnosis AS, which were aimed at identification of the most typical and relevant consequences for functioning and health in this subgroup (Stucki *et al.* 2007; Boonen *et al.* 2010a). The ICF core set includs for example, pain, mobility, sleep functions, and exercise tolerance in the component body function. Structure of the trunk, pelvic, and lower extremities is included in the component body structure, while changing of body position, walking, working, family relationships, leisure time activities, and driving are typical of the component activities and participation. In the component environmental factors, among other things support and relationships have been mentioned as being typical of the disease (Boonen *et al.* 2010a).

Physiotherapy

Several definitions of physiotherapy have been put forward, including promotion of health and well-being and prevention of impairments, activity limitations, and participation restrictions. As a research area, it is characterized by a perception of the individual as a physical, mental, social, and existential being and PTs have a valuable role in promotion of health, care, and rehabilitation in different health-care systems around the world (Higgs *et al.* 2001; Broberg 2003; WCPT 2012). PTs need continuously updated knowledge about factors affecting health, and how these contribute to an improvement or decline in health throughout the life. Physiotherapy can be given as a single intervention or as part of a complex intervention or rehabilitation, together with other health professionals. Counselling, coaching, education, exercise, pain management, and many different types of manual treatments are widely used to maintain or improve functional limitations or disabilities from different diseases (WCPT 2012). The methods used should always be based on evidence based care and clinical experience.

Physiotherapy in spondyloarthritis

Physiotherapy has long been an important part of the treatment of patients with AS, and it is also applicable to patients with SpA (Braun et al. 2011), even though most research papers still refer to AS. In the past, patients with AS were quite often hospitalized in rheumatology departments for treatment (Gordon 1977). In 2005, a Cochrane review emphasized physiotherapy and group exercises to be important interventions for patients with AS, and this was also backed up in an updated review in 2008 (Dagfinrud et al. 2005b; Dagfinrud et al. 2008). The cornerstones of non-pharmacological treatment are regular exercise and patient education. The aim is to improve or maintain spinal mobility, physical fitness, and functional posture and to reduce pain (van den Berg et al. 2012). Home exercise is a key modality, but physiotherapy with supervised exercises, land- or water-based, individually or in a group, should be preferred, as these are more effective (Dagfinrud et al. 2008; Braun et al. 2011). Even so, home-based daily exercise programs are advocated due to their simplicity and cheapness (Aytekin et al. 2012). Home-based or supervised exercises have better outcomes than no intervention, and reduce the risk of disability (Dagfinrud et al. 2008). Furthermore, supervised group exercise also improves the well-being of the individual. Additional benefits were found with a combination of three weeks of intensive spa exercise therapy followed by weekly group physiotherapy (Dagfinrud et al. 2008). Different forms of rehabilitation for patients with AS have also been shown to be effective regarding physical function, mobility, pain (Fernandez-de-Las-Penas et al. 2006; Masiero et al. 2011), and aerobic capacity (Hagel et al. 2010). Some later studies have confirmed the effect of rehabilitation, with moderate to good effects in all ICF domains; on physical function, disease activity, HRQoL scores, and pain and mobility outcomes (Staalesen Strumse et al. 2011; Kjeken et al. 2013). Other nonpharmacological treatment modalities such as patient associations and self-help groups

are also recommended (Zochling *et al.* 2006b; Vliet Vlieland *et al.* 2009; Braun *et al.* 2011). In recent years, the awareness of the value of physical activity has been raised and interventions based on physical activity have gained considerable importance (WHO 2002; WHO; 2003; WHO 2010). Despite this knowledge, the majority of patients with AS do not exercise on a regular basis (Passalent *et al.* 2010), and for the SpA group at large it is still incompletely studied. However, interventions based on exercise, and also giving encouragement to exercise and to be physically active, are recommended for improved function in patients with AS, irrespective of whether the disease is moderate or severe (Brophy *et al.* 2013).

Physical activity

In the past decade, our awareness of physical activity in influencing human health has also been seen as a cost-effective way to promote better health. The WHO has recognized that physical inactivity is the fourth most important risk factor for mortality, and interest groups, health-care workers, and society as a whole have worked actively to disseminate information about the importance of physical activity in promoting health (WHO 2002; WHO 2010). From studies carried out worldwide, there is a large body of evidence that regular physical activity can reduce the risk of cardiovascular co-morbidities, and also a number of other co-morbidity disorders such as diabetes, obesity, hypertension, breast cancer, colon cancer, osteoporosis, and depression in a population (Warburton *et al.* 2006; Blair *et al.* 2009; Alford 2010; Lee *et al.* 2010; Sieverdes *et al.* 2010; Lee *et al.* 2012). It is also well known that patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and patients with AS have an increased risk of cardiovascular co-morbidities (Han *et al.* 2006; Bremander *et al.* 2011), which makes it even more important that these patients should have a healthy lifestyle. Recommendations for physical activity in promotion of better health and prevention of disability in these specific diseases have been put forward by the WHO (WHO 2003).

Definitions of physical activity

Physical activity is a complex concept that is sometimes used interchangeably with exercise and physical fitness. The terms are inter-related but have different meanings. Physical activity is defined as "any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that results in energy expenditure" while exercise is a "subset of physical activity that is also planned, structured, and repetitive", often with the objective of maintaining or improving physical fitness. In contrast, the term physical fitness is a set of attributes that relate to the ability to perform physical activity (Caspersen *et al.* 1985).

Recommendations for physical activity

In 1995, the first more widely used public recommendations for physical activity were endorsed, promoting 30 minutes or more of moderate-intensity physical activity on most days of the week (Pate et al. 1995), a recommendation also adopted by the WHO (WHO/ FIMS 1995). Later on, an updated version was published that recommended moderateintensity aerobic physical activity for a minimum of 30 minutes for five days a week or vigorous aerobic activity for a minimum of 20 minutes on three days each week, or a combination of moderate-intensity and vigorous activity, for all healthy individuals aged 18-65 years. Muscle-strengthening activities should also be performed two days a week (Haskell et al. 2007), which has also been recommended by the WHO and adapted to individuals with inflammatory diseases. The recommendations are now expressed in total minutes per week, corresponding to 150 minutes of moderate intensity or 75 min of vigorous physical activity per week (WHO 2003; WHO 2010; Garber et al. 2011). For additional health benefits, adults should increase the length or the intensity of aerobic physical activity. The national board in Sweden have accepted the recommendations on physical activity to improve and maintain health i.e. health-enhancing physical activity (HEPA) as the minimum level of physical activity (Pate et al. 1995; National Board of Health and Welfare 2011) (Figure 3).

Vigorus aerobic physical activity 75 minutes a week			
r cycl swimming skiing brisk walking	rowing Vigorous running aerobic ling physical activity 9 2-3 times a week for a total of at leas 75 min a week	 Muscle strengthening and balance training 2-3 times a week 	dancing ball games sequence training aerobics
Moderate aerobic physical activity			
berry picking fishir hui	30 mir ng 10 mir nting 5-7 da	each day sessions vs a week	house and yard work walking
re	epair work		physically active games

Moderate aerobic physical activity 150 minutes a week distributed on all days

Figure 3. Pie chart of weekly physical activity. Recommendations on Health-Enhancing Physical Activity to promote health and prevent health risks associated with physical inactivity. It is preferable to take part of both halves every week, but to get at least half of the pie. Figure inspired by the UKK institute, Finland (UKK Institute 2009).

Assessment of physical activity

There are different methods to measure physical activity, which can be divided into selfreported measures or observed measures (such as when using accelerometers or pedometers). Questionnaires, and also various forms of diaries, are frequently used methods for self-reported measures and the patient's own assessment of the level of physical activity forms the basis of the outcome (Sternfeld et al. 2012). The questions have to provide answers to the dose of physical activity. Frequency is the number of times an activity is performed, usually expressed in sessions, episodes, or bouts per day or week. Duration is the length of the activity, often expressed in minutes, and intensity is the rate of energy expenditure required to perform the activity (U.S. Dept. of Health & Human Services 2008). With information about frequency, duration, and intensity, it can be evaluated whether the patient is meeting or not meeting the recommendations for physical activity. On the other hand, observed measures of physical activity, for example accelerometers or pedometers, assess bodily movements. It is difficult to compare selfreported measures and observed measures, and the general advice is to not mix the two methods (Prince et al. 2008; Slootmaker et al. 2009; Hagstromer et al. 2010). In studies comparing accelerometer data with self-reported data, both measures provided qualitatively consistent information on physical activity at the population level (Prince et al. 2008; Slootmaker et al. 2009; Hagstromer et al. 2010), but the absolute values differed with a modest overestimation of physical activity when using self-reported data (Hagstromer et al. 2010). Self-reported physical activity is, however, internationally accepted, supported by the WHO, and is often the only possible way to study this phenomenon in larger population surveys due to its ease of use and low cost, but its limitations should be considered (Sallis et al. 2000; WHO 2010).

Physical activity in individuals with spondyloarthritis

Physical activity patterns are seldom studied in patients with SpA. However, there have been studies of this topic in patients with AS showing that approximately two-thirds of them fulfil the recommended requirements regarding physical activity (Manning *et al.* 2012; Brophy *et al.* 2013), but in many cases at a level of intensity that is too low (Sundstrom *et al.* 2002; Passalent *et al.* 2010). Of those who met the recommendations, as many as half of them wanted further advice on physical activity (Manning *et al.* 2012). Studies in individuals with other arthritic diseases in the US and in individuals with rheumatoid arthritis in Sweden have found that a substantial proportion do not reach the recommended level of activity (Fontaine *et al.* 2004; Demmelmaier *et al.* 2013). In an older Swedish study, the majority of patients with AS had a low level of exercise, less than three times a week (76%), but the study explored exercise rather than physical activity patterns (Sundstrom *et al.* 2002). Most improvements in function were found in patients with higher levels of physical activity and in those who were more motivated. Even patients with the most severe disease activity have a lot to gain by maintaining or increasing their level of physical activity (Brophy *et al.* 2013). Despite the positive outcomes, several patients still do not report any regular activity or exercise (Passalent *et al.* 2010). Due to the different questionnaires and methods used, the comparability between studies is low but researchers agree and advocate the use of exercise and advice on physical activity as part of the treatment in patients with AS.

Work productivity

The ability to work is a fundamental activity, and a reduced ability to work affects the well-being of both healthy individuals and people with a disease (Waddell *et al.* 2007; Arvidsson *et al.* 2011; McDonald *et al.* 2011). Work ability is important for HRQoL and has an economic impact both for the individual and for society. Research has mainly focused on the link between health risks, health conditions, and health-care costs. There have also been studies on loss of productivity, measured from the costs associated with absenteeism, the employee's time away from work, while costs for lost productivity due to different health conditions are more often ignored (Schultz *et al.* 2007). As more individuals with inflammatory diseases are treated with the new, expensive biologic drugs these days, with increasing costs to society, it is important to study the effects of the disease on productivity to obtain more information for health-economic evaluations.

Increased rates of absence from work, and short- and long-term disability in general have highlighted the importance of dealing with the relationship "work - illness" for the individual, for the health-care system, for the workplace, and for society (Drummond *et al.* 2005; Waddell *et al.* 2007). The OMERACT association (Outcome Measures in Rheumatoid Arthritis Clinical Trials) has also recommended that productivity should be used as an outcome measure in clinical trials (Beaton *et al.* 2009). Due to its early onset and chronic nature, SpA affects individuals negatively throughout their entire working life. This can cause absence from work and reduced work productivity, causing distress for the patient and economic loss for the individual, for her/his employer, and for society as a whole. Furthermore, this could mean that patients with SpA may become less employable.

Definitions of work productivity

The concept of work ability is complex, but it can be thought of as an individual's various resources in relation to the labour market's needs and requirements (Tuomi *et al.* 2001; Berglind *et al.* 2002; Tengland 2011). The reverse, work disability, can result in reduced work productivity with various consequences. In this thesis, the terms absenteeism and presenteeism are used. Absenteeism means the employee's time off work as sick-leave and/or disability pension leading to sickness benefits (Boonen *et al.* 2002). In Sweden, this

benefit is compensation for an illness that has reduced the ability to work for more than 14 days, but it is also possible to obtain it for long-term or permanent impairment (Strombeck *et al.* 2009). Presenteeism, means being present at work while sick, or the degree of reduced productivity while at work (Schultz *et al.* 2007; Beaton *et al.* 2009).

Assessment of work productivity

Different methods are used to measure work productivity. Assessment with questionnaires, observational methods, physical tests, and interviews are possible. To study absenteeism, data on sick-leave, for example, frequency of individuals on sick-leave, length of sick-leave, incidence rate, cumulative incidence, and duration of sick-leave, have been suggested (Hensing *et al.* 1998). These data can be collected through a register (sick-leave >14 days), but they may also be details provided by employers, or self-reported data. Measurement of presenteeism may involve reduced productivity due to the quantity or quality of work affected, adequate time not spent on task, or personal factors. Presenteeism is based on self-reported data (Schultz *et al.* 2007).

Absenteeism

There is a clear and well documented influence on absenteeism in individuals with musculoskeletal pain disorders (McDonald et al. 2011), osteoarthritis (Hubertsson et al. 2013), RA (Geuskens et al. 2008; Bansback et al. 2012; Kvamme et al. 2012), AS (Boonen et al. 2001; Boonen et al. 2002; Strombeck et al. 2009; Boonen et al. 2010b; Healey et al. 2011), and PsA (Kavanaugh et al. 2006; Armstrong et al. 2012; Kvamme et al. 2012) reported in the last decade. Large variations in prevalence among countries, may be explained by differences in social security systems, patient groups, endpoints, or recall periods (Boonen et al. 2002; Boonen 2006; Verstappen et al. 2012). For the SpA, there are fewer data on absenteeism but the results appear to be applicable even to those individuals for whom an increased risk of sick-leave and work disability has been found (Rohekar et al. 2010). Data on patients with AS have shown that higher disease activity (Rohekar et al. 2010; Healey et al. 2011; Armstrong et al. 2012), lower physical function (Ward et al. 2001; van der Heijde et al. 2006; Geuskens et al. 2008; Rafia et al. 2012), worse HRQoL (Kristensen et al. 2012), higher score in the depression scale (Healey et al. 2011), and more pain (Ward et al. 2001; Kristensen et al. 2012) have a negative influence on the ability to work. Lower education level, female gender, higher age, and other comorbidities also have a negative effect on ability to work (Ward et al. 2001). Treatment with TNF blockers in individuals with AS and PsA has been shown to reduce sick-leave and work disability (Kavanaugh et al. 2006; van der Heijde et al. 2006; Keat et al. 2008; Kristensen et al. 2012). Factors associated with a high degree of absenteeism have scarcely been studied in all individuals with SpA.

Presenteeism

In order to have a broader view of work productivity, it is important to study more subtle measures such as presenteeism, i.e. the degree of reduced work productivity due to the disease in those still working (Beaton et al. 2009; McDonald et al. 2011). Some authors have claimed that presenteeism is the main source of loss of work productivity; the negative economic effects are several times greater than health-care costs and larger than the costs of absenteeism (Mattke et al. 2007; Schultz et al. 2007). Presenteeism has been shown to be common in musculoskeletal pain disorders (McDonald et al. 2011), in chronic arthritis (Burton et al. 2006; Schultz et al. 2007), and in AS (Boonen et al. 2010b; Maksymowych et al. 2010; Healey et al. 2011), while this variable has scarcely been studied in all individuals with SpA. Associations between presenteeism and higher disease activity (van der Heijde et al. 2006; Boonen et al. 2010b; Maksymowych et al. 2010; Rohekar et al. 2010; Rafia et al. 2012), lower physical function (van der Heijde et al. 2006; Geuskens et al. 2008; Boonen et al. 2010b; Maksymowych et al. 2010; Rohekar et al. 2010; Rafia et al. 2012), reduced HRQoL (Maksymowych et al. 2010; Rohekar et al. 2010), higher scores in depression and anxiety (Healey et al. 2011), more pain (Geuskens et al. 2008; Maksymowych et al. 2010), lower self-efficacy (Healey et al. 2011), and increased age (Healey et al. 2011) have been reported in patients with AS, while very little information is available for other individuals with SpA. Whereas presenteeism measures reduced productivity at work, activity limitations measure reduced productivity outside work. Activity limitations have been found to be present in one out of four patients with AS (Maksymowych et al. 2010) and to be associated with HRQoL, physical function, disease activity, and pain (Maksymowych et al. 2010). Associations between activity limitations and presenteeism are not yet studied.

Rationale for this thesis

Better knowledge of the epidemiology of different rheumatic diseases and their burden to society is needed to increase the likelihood of better health-care planning and use of resources. Until now, the occurrence calculations are often based only on studies of patients in the different subgroups, while patients affected by the whole group of SpA diseases, have scarcely been studied.

As patients with SpA often have early onset and life-long disease causing limitations affecting several aspects of life, an awareness of the consequences can help the patients to cope with the disease, and can help health-care providers to support the patient in the best possible way. Previous research in SpA has mainly focused on the ICF components, body function, body structure, and activities whereas this thesis adds outcomes related to participation. Stiffness, pain, impaired physical and mental function, and reduced HRQoL are common and well-known consequences, which the patients are also aware of and may get help with from the health-care providers. However, in recent years promotion and maintenance of physical activity for health has been recognized as an important outcome, also showing effects on several dimensions of health in patients with arthritis. Helping patients to follow these recommendations on physical activity has become an important part of the regime, and better knowledge of the pattern of physical activity can help tailor activities and facilitate coaching strategies in clinical routine.

Yet another consequence that affects the patient with a life-long disease is the ability to work. Studies focusing on how to identify the patients who are at risk of a worse prognosis in working life would be useful for patients, for health professionals, and for society as a whole. In the clinical situation, knowing what to measure, what to be aware of, and how to predict reduced productivity both at work, and outside work is valuable and promotes management that is tailored to the patient. There is therefore a need for better knowledge concerning the occurrence and the consequences of SpA.

Aims

The overall aim was to study the prevalence of SpA and the consequences of the disease for the individual and for society regarding physical activity and work, in a well-defined population-based cohort of patients.

The specific aims were:

- I. To estimate the prevalence of SpA in subjects seeking health care in the Skåne region, and to define the age and gender characteristics for the whole SpA group and for the different subgroups (Paper I).
- II. To study self-reported physical activity in patients with SpA, and possible differences associated with gender and the SpA subgroups. A second aim was to study factors associated with the different physical activity patterns (Paper II).
- III. To evaluate work productivity and compare differences between women and men and for subgroups of SpA. A second aim was to study factors associated with reduced productivity at work in patients with SpA (Paper III).
- IV. To study predictors of presenteeism and possible differences with regard to gender and the SpA subgroups. A secondary aim was to study associations between presenteeism and activity impairment outside work (Paper IV).
Methods

Study design

This thesis is based on four epidemiological studies using different information from population-based cohorts of patients with SpA. Paper I is a population-based prevalence study based on the Skåne Health Care Register (SHCR). Papers II and III are cross-sectional population-based cohort studies, and Paper IV is a longitudinal population-based cohort study (Table 3), all three of them being based on data mainly derived from the SpAScania Questionnaires (SSQ).

Paper	Study collection year	Subject of study	Study design	Data sources	No. of participants (% men)	Age year, mean (SD)	Disease duration years, mean (SD)
Ι	2007	Prevalence	Population- based (*health- care seeking)	SHCR ¹ SPR ² ESP ³	3,852 (49%)	53 (15)	-
II	2009	Physical activity	Population- based cohort* Cross-sectional	SHCR ¹ SPR ² SSQ ⁴ 2009 SNIPH ⁵	2,167 (48%)	55 (14)	14 (12)
III	2009	Work productivity	Population- based cohort* Cross-sectional	SHCR ¹ SPR ² SSQ ⁴ 2009 SSIA ⁶	1,773 (48%)	51 (11)	13 (10)
IV	2009, 2011	Presenteeism	Population- based longitudinal cohort*	SHCR ¹ SPR ² SSQ ⁴ 2009 SSQ ⁴ 2011	1,253 (47%)	51 (11)	13 (10)

Table 3. Characteristics of studies I-IV.

¹SHCR: Skåne Health Care Register, ²SPR: Swedish Population Register, ³ESP: The European Standard Population, ⁴SSQ: SpAScania Questionnaire, ⁵SNIPH: Swedish National Institute of Public Health, ⁶SSIA: Swedish Social Insurance Agency

The Skåne Health Care Register

In Sweden, free health care is provided by both public and private health-care providers, all through the same tax-based financing system. All providers are required to provide information for reimbursement purposes, which ensures a high quality of reporting. In

the Skåne region, all health-care visits, public and private, in-patient and out-patient, are registered in the Skåne Health Care Register (SHCR). The register includes information on the health-care provider and the date of the health-care visit, and it is linked to the Swedish Population Register (SPR) with a 10-digit personal identification number providing information on date of birth. Since 1997, codes on the International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision (ICD-10) as given by any physician have been registered in the SHCR for public care. The population of Skåne was 1,263,088 by the end of December 2012, which means that the SHCR covers one-eighth of the Swedish population (Statistics Sweden 2012). Data from the SHCR were used in studies I–IV for identification of the patients in the SpAScania cohort, the cohort which this thesis is based on. Data from the SPR were used in studies I–IV for information on sex, residential address, and date of death to ensure exclusion of patients who had died or moved out of the region.

Study population

The SpAScania cohort

The individuals on whom this thesis is based were identified by searching for all healthcare seeking patients aged \geq 15 years with SpA in Skåne (on 31 December 2007), according to chosen ICD-10 codes in the SHCR. At that time, the county of Skåne had 999,121 inhabitants \geq 15 years. The ICD-10 codes that could be linked to SpA were based on the literature and on clinical consensus, resulting in 6,799 valid cases and this group of patients was named the SpAScania cohort (Figure 4). The cohort included all cases who at any time over five calendar years (2003–2007) had received a diagnosis of SpA. This was achieved by searching for 12 separate ICD-10 codes for AS, PsA, Aa-IBD, and USpA (Table 1, page 22) and 8 ICD-10 codes for possible SpA (M08.1, M01.2, M02.0, M02.1, M02.2, M02.8, M02.9, M03.2; juvenile ankylosing spondylitis, arthritis in lyme disease, infectious and reactive arthropathies, and other postinfectious arthropathies in diseases classified elsewhere) (Figure 4, Table 1 page 22).

Data sources

SpAScania Questionnaires

The collection of data from the patients in the SpAScania cohort involved two questionnaire-based postal surveys. The baseline SpAScania questionnaire (2009 SSQ) was sent out between May and August 2009 to all patients in the SpAScania cohort who were ≥18 years of age, still alive, and resident in the county in 2009 (n=5,771). Data from the 2009 SSQ were used in studies II, III, and IV. The follow-up SSQ (2011 SSQ) was



Figure 4. Flow chart of the patients at each stage of study I–IV. ¹M08.1, M01.2, M02.0, M02.1, M02.2, M02.8, M02.9, M03.2. ²The spondyloarthritis (SpA) diagnosis were required at least once by a reumatologist or internist, or at least on two sepearate occations by any other physician.

sent out between November 2011 and January 2012, 2.5 years after the 2009 SSQ. It included patients in the SpAScania cohort who were still alive and resident in the county in November 2011 (n=3,513), and who had not declined further participation Data from the 2011 SSQ were used in study IV.

The SSQs consisted of eight (2009 SSQ) and twelve (2011 SSQ) commonly used and well-validated self-reported outcome instruments, in addition to questions on patient characteristics, demographics, and lifestyle issues, which are described in detail below. Both SSQs developed for the survey had the same content, except for a few questions that were different in the follow-up. Issues concerning health economics were also included in the SSQs, which were not studied further and are not described in this thesis. The SSQs were drawn up by a panel of three physicians (two specialists in rheumatic diseases and one general practitioner), three PTs (specialists in rheumatic diseases), and one health economist. Before the first survey, the composite SSQ was tested in three focus groups consisting of 20 patients in total with different SpA diagnoses, and one patient research partner from the Swedish Rheumatism association in order to improve face and content validity. This resulted in minor corrections to improve patients' understanding. Reminders were sent on two separate occasions within ten weeks of the first mailing.

The Swedish National Institute of Public Health

The main task of the Swedish National Institute of Public Health (SNIPH) is to provide data and support to the government, state agencies, and other organizations in the field of health promotion and disease prevention. A national public health survey involving ~20,000 individuals 16-84 years of age is conducted each year. Data on physical activity patterns from the survey in 2010 were included for comparison in study II. The reference data were based on responses from 9,972 individuals (Swedish State Institute of Public Health 2010); these data are currently available online (http://www.fhi.se/Statistik-uppfoljning/Nationella-folkhalsoenkaten/Levnadsvanor/Fysisk-aktivitet/).

The Swedish Social Insurance Agency

The Swedish Social Insurance Agency (SSIA) provides financial protection for everyone in the event of work incapacity owing to sickness, disability, or injury and covers all inhabitants living in Sweden. By law, all Swedish residents aged 16-64 years are granted economic compensation (i.e. sickness benefit) from SSIA in case of work incapacity longer than 14 days. The first period (\leq 14 days) is paid directly by the employer, and these benefits are not registered by the SSIA. The sickness benefit from SSIA is payable as full, three-quarter, half, or one-quarter day compensations due to sickness, disability, or injury and is limited to one year. For patients with more permanent work incapacity due to a disease, disability pension is granted (Strombeck *et al.* 2009). Data from the SSIA concerning sick-leave (absenteeism) were used in studies III and IV. The data included the number of days of sickness benefit (longer than 14 days) and disability pension related to SpA and to other diagnoses. The number of gross days with any degree of sick-leave (25%, 50%, 75%, and 100%) was converted to net days, including the 2009 survey response date. This is expressed as the number of net days with full sick-leave in a 3-month period (0–91 days).

Procedures

Data describing the flow chart are presented in Figure 4 (page 39) and the patients included in the four different studies are described in Figure 5.



Figure 5. Numbers of patients with spondyloarthritis who were included in studies I-IV.

Study I

All potential cases (n=6,799) identified in the SHCR were cross-referenced with information in the population register at 31 December 2007, the end of the study period, to exclude patients who had died or moved out of the county (n=364). Eight ICD-10 codes for "possible" SpA were excluded (n=1,817) leaving twelve included ICD-10 codes (Table 1, page 22). A total of 4,618 patients from the SpAScania cohort remained, and were included in study I. To ensure higher specificity of the SpA diagnoses when estimating the prevalence, a stricter inclusion criteria were used and the diagnoses were required to be registered at least once by a rheumatologist or internist, or at least on two

separate occasions by any other physician in primary or secondary care. This step eliminated 766 cases and a total of 3,852 patients remained for estimation of the prevalence (Figure 4, page 39). In epidemiological studies, when comparing the occurrence of a disease between different populations the direct method of standardization is commonly used. The data set estimates the numbers of expected prevalent cases relative to the number of observed cases. Data from the European Standard Population (ESP) were used for comparisons in study I (Waterhouse *et al.* 1976).

Study II

Study II had a cross-sectional design. All patients with SpA (12 ICD-10 codes) in the stricter inclusion with diagnosis registered once by a rheumatologist or internist, or on two occasions by any other physician, and who had responded to the 2009 SSQ were included in the analysis. Out of 3,716 patients with SpA in the stricter SpAScania cohort who received the 2009 SSQ, 2,852 (77%) responded to the survey; of these, 685 declined participation and 2,167 (58%) returned the 2009 SSQ (Figure 4, page 39 and Figure 5, page 41).

Study III

Study III also had a cross-sectional design and included all patients of working age (range 18-67 years) in the stricter inclusion who had responded to the 2009 SSQ (n=1,773) (Figure 4, page 39 and Figure 5, page 41).

Study IV

Study IV had a longitudinal design and was based on data from all patients of working age (range 18-67 years at the end of the study period 2011) in the stricter inclusion who had answered both the 2009 SSQ and the 2011 SSQ (n=1,253). Of these patients, 757 reported being in work and 720 responded to the question on presenteeism (Figure 4, page 39 and Figure 5, page 41).

Variables studied

Several outcome variables were considered in this thesis. An overview of the PROMs included in studies II-IV is given in Table 4, and the outcome variables are listed according to the ICF.

Descriptive data

Descriptive data about education level, work status, smoking habits, disease duration, and duration of symptoms, and also questions assessing co-morbidity were self-reported through the SSQ. In addition, information on patient characteristics such as age, gender, and ICD-10 diagnosis were collected from the SHCR.

ICF-component	References	Study	Study	Study
		II	III	IV
Activities and participation	Fekete 2012	х	х	х
Body function	Stamm 2013	х		
Body function	Hagel 2011	х		
Body function, Activities and participation, Environmental factors	Boonen 2009 Hagel 2011	х	х	Х
Body function	Boonen 2009 Hagel 2011	х	х	х
Body function, Activities and participation, Environmental factors	Boonen 2009 Hagel 2011	Х	Х	х
Body function, Activities and participation	Prodinger 2008	х	х	х
Activities and participation	Escorpizo 2009		х	х
Activities and participation	Escorpizo 2009			х
Body function, Activities and participation	Haglund 2013 ¹		х	х
Body function, Activities and participation	Haglund 2013 ¹		х	х
Activities and participation	Escorpizo 2009		х	х
	ICF-component Activities and participation Body function Body function Body function, Activities and participation, Environmental factors Body function Body function, Activities and participation, Environmental factors Body function, Activities and participation Activities and participation Activities and participation Body function, Activities and participation Body function, Activities and participation Body function, Activities and participation Body function, Activities and participation Activities and participation	ICF-componentReferencesActivities and participationFekete 2012Body functionStamm 2013Body functionHagel 2011Body function, Activities and participation, Environmental factorsBoonen 2009 Hagel 2011Body functionBoonen 2009 Hagel 2011Body function, Activities and participation, Environmental factorsBoonen 2009 Hagel 2011Body function, Activities and participation, Environmental factorsBoonen 2009 Hagel 2011Body function, Activities and participation, Environmental factorsBoonen 2009 Hagel 2011Body function, Activities and participationBooren 2009 Hagel 2011Body function, Activities and participationProdinger 2008 Escorpizo 2009Activities and participationEscorpizo 2009Body function, Activities and participationHaglund 20131Body function, Activities and participationHaglund 20131Body function, Activities and participationHaglund 20131Body function, Activities and participationHaglund 20131	ICF-componentReferencesStudy IIActivities and participationFekete 2012xBody functionStamm 2013xBody functionHagel 2011xBody function, Activities and participation, Environmental factorsBoonen 2009 Hagel 2011xBody function, Activities and participationBcorenize 2008 Escorpize 2009xActivities and participationEscorpize 2009xBody function, Activities and participationHaglund 20131Body function, Activities and participationHaglund 20131Activities and participationEscorpizo 2009	ICF-componentReferencesStudyStudyActivities and participationFekete 2012xxBody functionStamm 2013xxBody functionHagel 2011xxBody function, Activities and participation, Environmental factorsBoonen 2009 Hagel 2011xxBody function, Activities and participation, Environmental factorsBoonen 2009 Hagel 2011xxBody function, Activities and participation, Environmental factorsBoonen 2009 Hagel 2011xxBody function, Activities and participation Environmental factorsBoonen 2009 Hagel 2011xxBody function, Activities and participation Environmental factorsProdinger 2008 Escorpizo 2009xxActivities and participationEscorpizo 2009xxActivities and participationHaglund 20131xBody function, Activities and participationHaglund 20131xBody function, Activities and participationEscorpizo 2009x

Table 4. Outcome variables used in studies II-IV, classified according to the ICF

¹In manuscript, Haglund *et al.*

Physical activity

From the SSQ in 2009, information on physical activity was collected from three questions taken from recommendations on how to measure self-reported physical activity (Haskell *et al.* 2007). This included information on intensity (moderate/intense physical activity), duration (30 minutes or more), and number of days per week (0–7). Patients who reported activities 5–7 days per week of moderate intensity (defined as aerobic exercise that causes mild breathlessness, e.g. walking or gardening etc.) for at least 30 minutes a day were considered to meet the moderate-intensity physical activity recommendations (MI-PA_{rec}). Those who exercised on a vigorous level for at least 30 minutes 2-3 times a week or more were considered to meet the vigorous physical activity

recommendations (VI-PA_{rec}). These two recommendations (MI-PA_{rec}, VI-PA_{rec}) were then merged and categorized into either meeting or not meeting the WHO recommendations (WHO_{rec}) (Haskell *et al.* 2007; WHO 2010). Categorization of data in this way has already been done in large studies in Sweden, both on arthritis and in the general population (Eurenius *et al.* 2005; Swedish State Institute of Public Health 2010). Physical activity was the outcome variable in study II and an independent variable in studies III and IV.

Fatigue and pain

Fatigue and pain during the previous week were recorded using numeric rating scales (NRS), 0-10 (best to worst). NRS pain has been shown to be reliable and valid (Englbrecht *et al.* 2012). NRS fatigue has been used for evaluation of fatigue in other rheumatic diseases (Gossec *et al.* 2011).

Health-related quality of life

EuroQol-5 domain (EQ-5D) was used to measure HRQoL. EQ-5D is a widely used generic questionnaire consisting of five questions covering mobility, self-care, usual activity, pain/discomfort, and anxiety/depression. The EQ-5D has a summary score ranging from 0 to 1 (no health to full health) (TheEuroQulGroup 1990).

Disease activity and physical function

The Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Indices were used as self-reported disease-specific measures to assess disease activity (BASDAI) and function (BASFI). The indices are primarily validated for patients with AS (Calin *et al.* 1994; Garrett *et al.* 1994; Cronstedt *et al.* 1999; Waldner *et al.* 1999; Van Tubergen *et al.* 2002) but they have been found to be valid in patients with early non-radiographic axial SpA (Rudwaleit *et al.* 2009a). Recently, the BASDAI was also validated for patients with PsA with good-to-moderate validity (Eder *et al.* 2010). In the indices, the total score range between 0 to 10 (best to worst). The BASDAI consists of six questions on fatigue, pain, tenderness, and morning stiffness. The BASFI consists of ten questions; eight are concerned with body function, two concerned with activity and participation and environmental factors (Boonen *et al.* 2009). The final scores in each index are estimated by calculating the means (Calin *et al.* 1994; Garrett *et al.* 1994).

Anxiety and Depression

The Hospital Anxiety and Depression (HAD) scale has been constructed to assess psychological status for scoring of anxiety (HAD anxiety) and depression (HAD depression). The two subscales each consist of seven questions ranging between 0 and 3 on a four-point Likert scale. The subscales have a summary score ranging from 0 to 21 (no distress to maximum distress). A score of less than 8 indicates absence of psychiatric morbidity, a score of 8-10 indicates possible anxiety or depression, and a score of more than 10 points indicates probable anxiety or depression (Zigmond *et al.* 1983).

Self-efficacy

The Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (ASES) is concerned with coping with the consequences of the disease, with subscales for pain, function, and symptoms. This was used to assess self-reported self-efficacy in pain and symptoms. The subscales for pain have five items and those for other symptoms have six items. Each item is scored on a scale between 10 to 100 (low self-efficacy to greater self-efficacy) (Lorig *et al.* 1989). The ASES has acceptable validity and responsiveness, supporting its use on patients with AS (Sandhu *et al.* 2011).

Presenteeism

In the 2009 survey, one screening question assessed work impairment in the previous seven days (yes or no). If the answer was yes, patients were also asked to report their reduced productivity at work (presenteeism) by answering the question "During the past seven days, how much did SpA affect your productivity while you were working?". This question was taken from the valid, reliable, and disease generic instrument Work Productivity and Activity Impairment Questionnaire, which is also used for patients with AS (WPAI-SpA). The question measures the degree of impairment, and patients rate the percentage of reduced productivity at work on a numeric rating scale (0–100%) where a higher percentage indicates a greater reduction in productivity at work (Reilly *et al.* 1993; Prasad *et al.* 2004; Reilly *et al.* 2010). Patients who answered "no" to the initial question were not asked to rate the degree of reduction but were included in the analysis with 0% reduction in productivity. Presenteeism was an outcome variable in studies III and IV.

Work productivity and activity impairment questionnaire (WPAI)

In the 2011 SSQ, the full WPAI-SpA was used. The WPAI-SpA consists of six questions assessing the impact of the disease on work and other daily activities during the previous seven days. This instrument determines employment status, number of hours missed from work due to the disease, hours missed from work for other reasons, hours worked,

degree to which the disease reduces productivity at work, and degree to which the disease reduces productivity in other activities outside work (exemplified as housework, shopping, babysitting, exercising and studying). The results are presented in four different components (absenteeism, presenteeism, impaired activities outside work, and overall work impairment). Each component is expressed as percentage of impairment due to the disease (0–100%) where a higher percentage indicates a greater reduction (Reilly *et al.* 2010). The question concerning presenteeism was the same in the two surveys, but without the initial screening question in the follow-up. The component impaired activities outside work was a secondary outcome variable in study IV.

Data on demographics and characteristics of the patients included in studies I–IV are given in Table 5 and for the patients responded to the 2009 SpAScania questionnaire in Table 6, by gender and by spondyloarthritis subgroups.

	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV	Study IV ¹
					(Presenteeism)
	n=3,852	n=2,167	n=1,773	n=1,253	n=720
Gender, % men	49%	48%	48%	47%	49%
Age, years	53 (15)	55 (14)	51 (11)	51 (11)	48 (10)
Disease duration, years	-	14 (12)	13 (10)	13 (10)	12 (9)
Symp-diagnosis, years ²	-	6 (7)	5 (7)	6 (7)	5 (6)
BASDAI, 0-10	-	4.4 (2.2)	4.4 (2.2)	4.3 (2.2)	3.8 (2.0)
BASFI, 0-10	-	3.2 (2.5)	3.0 (2.4)	3.0 (2.4)	2.3 (2.0)
ASES pain, 10-100	-	50 (22)	51 (22)	52 (21)	55 (21)
ASES symp 10-100	-	57 (21)	59 (21)	59 (21)	62 (20)
EQ-5D, 0-1	-	0.75 (0.17)	0.75 (0.16)	0.75 (0.16)	0.78 (0.13)
HAD anxiety, 0-21	-	5.9 (4.3)	5.9 (4.3)	5.8 (4.2)	5.6 (4.0)
HAD depression, 0-21	-	4.4 (3.6)	4.3 (3.7)	4.2 (3.5)	3.9 (3.3)
Physical activity ³	-	68%	68%	69%	68%
Education level ⁴	-	35%	37%	38%	45%
Non-smokers	-	44%	45%	46%	51%
Absenteeism ⁵			28%	29%	30%
Presenteeism				20 (29)	25 (23)
Activity impairment outside work6			-	84%	80%

Table 5. Demographics and characteristics for the study population in studies I-IV

Unless otherwise stated, values are mean (SD). ¹⁷20 patients responded to the presenteeism question in both 2009 and 2011 SpAScania questionnaires. ²Years between first symptoms and diagnosis. ³Percentage meeting the WHO recommendations for physical activity. ⁴Percentage with a level of education >12 years.

⁵Absenteeism: percentage with any sick-leave >14 days. ⁶Activity impairment outside work: percentage with any reduction of activity impairment outside work at follow-up

	Women	Men	AS	PsA	USpA	Aa-IBD
	n=1,121	n=1,046	n=571	n=1,185	n=370	n=41
Gender, % men	-	-	66%	43%	42%	32%
Age, years	55 (14)	56 (13)	55 (14)	58 (13)	49 (14)	57(12)
Disease duration, years	13 (11)	16 (13)	20 (14)	13 (11)	10 (10)	11 (9)
Symp-diagnosis, years ¹	6 (8)	5 (7)	7 (7)	5 (7)	6 (8)	6 (7)
BASDAI, 0-10	4.2 (2.3)	4.0 (2.2)	3.9 (2.2)	4.8 (2.1)	4.2 (2.2)	5.1 (1.9)
BASFI, 0-10	3.5 (2.5)	2.8 (2.4)	3.3 (2.6)	3.2 (2.6)	2.9 (2.4)	3.3 (2.7)
ASES pain, 10-100	49 (21)	51 (22)	51 (22)	49 (21)	52 (21)	54 (23)
ASES symp 10-100	55 (21)	59 (22)	58 (21)	56 (22)	59 (21)	63 (22)
EQ-5D, 0-1	0.74 (0.16)	0.76 (0.17)	0.75 (0.17)	0.74 (0.17)	0.76 (0.17)	0.74 (0.15)
HAD anxiety, 0-21	6.3 (4.4)	5.4 (4.2)	6.0 (4.2)	5.9 (4.4)	5.8 (4.1)	5.8 (4.4)
HAD depression, 0-21	4.5 (3.7)	4.2 (3.6)	4.3 (3.6)	4.4 (3.6)	4.2 (3.6)	3.7 (3.6)
Physical activity ²	70%	66%	69%	67%	69%	81%
Education level ³	38%	31%	41%	28%	45%	39%
Non-smokers	43%	45%	46%	38%	61%	29%

Table 6. Demographics and characteristics for the patients responded to the 2009 SpAScania questionnaire (n=2,167), by gender and by spondyloarthritis subgroups

Unless otherwise stated, values are mean (SD). ¹Years between first symptoms and diagnosis. ²Percentage meeting the WHO recommendations for physical activity. ³Percentage with a level of education >12 years.

Analysis of non responders in the 2009 SSQ (n=1,549/3,716) mean age 52 years, showed that patients with AS were more likely to respond to the questionnaire and that patients with Aa-IBD were the least likely to respond. Higher age also significantly predicted a higher response rate in men. Women tended to respond more with higher age except in the subgroup AS.

Statistical methods

In study I, both crude and age-standardized estimates of the prevalence were calculated with 95% confidence interval (CI) using Stata/IC 10.0. ESP was used to enable comparisons with other countries (Waterhouse *et al.* 1976). The total population of Skåne at 31 December 2007 was used as the denominator, compensated for by a 15% reduction to simulate loss of patients seen by private practitioners, whose diagnoses were not forwarded to the register. Validation of the diagnostic coding was done by reviewing medical records of patients visiting a rheumatology clinic within the county. Sensitivity analyses were done in three ways. Firstly, we modified the case criteria from strict (whereby the diagnosis was given at least once by a rheumatologist or internist, or after at least two visits with diagnosis by any other physician) to more liberal (with the diagnosis made at least once by any physician). Secondly, we varied the adjustment to the denominator of the total population by -5% to -25% to simulate the range of uncertainty in the proportion of cases only diagnosed by private health-care providers. Thirdly, we evaluated the prevalence in a district with no private rheumatologist and few private general practices, without any reduction in the denominator.

All analyses in studies II–IV were performed using SPSS software for Windows versions 16-19. Patient characteristics were described with means, standard deviations (SDs), and 95% CI. Mann-Whitney U test, Chi-square test, t-test, and analyses of variance (ANOVAs) were used to analyse differences between groups. A significance level of <0.05 was used. For EQ-5D, the US tariff was used to transforming results to a summary index.

In study II, standardized risk ratios (RRs) and 95% CI for meeting the WHO_{rec} were calculated. The ratios observed in the SpA cohort were divided by their expected ratios for meeting the WHO_{rec} in the population, adjusted for age and gender (Swedish State Institute of Public Health 2010). Multivariate logistic regression analysis with odds ratios (ORs) and 95% CI were used to study associations with MI-PA_{rec} and VI-PA_{rec} as dependent variables and gender, SpA subgroups, age, smoking habits, education level, anxiety, depression, physical function, disease activity, and HRQoL as independent variables. Due to high correlation between BASDAI, BASFI, EQ-5D, HAD anxiety and depression with Spearman's correlations (r_s) >0.3, each of these variables was included separately in the regression together with other independent variables.

In study III, the analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) with beta-estimate (β -est) was used to study factors associated with reduced productivity. A β -est of x means that the productivity is reduced by x % (or steps) when the score of the factor under study has increased by one step. Due to the high correlation between productivity at work and other variables (Pearson correlation analysis), an acceptable correlation was considered to be >0.5. The β -est described the true coefficient in the population, based on a sample from the population. The analyses are presented for all patients, and for twelve different strata, by gender, age, and SpA subgroup (AS, PsA, and USpA).

In study IV, multivariate logistic regression analyses with OR and 95% CI were used to study predictors of presenteeism. Presenteeism at follow-up as the dependent variable was dichotomized based on the mean value (24.9%). Values of \geq 24.9% were regarded as presenteeism (reduced productivity). A base model included gender, age, SpA subgroups, and presenteeism at baseline in 2009 as independent variables. HRQoL, disease activity, physical function, anxiety, depression, self-efficacy pain and symptoms, smoking habits, disease duration, education level, reaching recommended level of physical activity, and sick-leave were other possible predictors that were added separately to the base model due to high correlation (>0.5, Pearson correlation analysis). The models were controlled for interactions between gender, different SpA subgroups, and short and long disease duration (split by median duration of 0-8 years vs. \geq 9 years). Chi-square test was used to analyse the association between presenteeism and activity impairment outside work (dichotomized based on the mean value of 32.7%).

Ethics

The Regional Ethical Review Board of Lund University, Sweden approved the studies (301/2007, 406/2008). Informed consent was obtained from all patients, in compliance with the Helsinki Declaration.

Results

Prevalence of spondyloarthritis (Paper I)

The overall crude prevalence of SpA was 0.45% (95% CI 0.44–0.47). The mean age (SD) of SpA patients was 53 (15) years. The peak prevalence was found in the 45-59 year and the 60-74 year stratas (Figure 6, Table 7).



Figure 6. Prevalence of spondyloarthritis (ankylosing spondylitis, psoriatic arthritis, arthritis associated with inflammatory bowel disease, and undifferentiated spondyloarthritis) in Sweden. Error bars show the effect of the sensitivity analysis when adjusting the denominator from -5% to -25%. White bars: women; grey bars: men.

	Crude prevalence (%)				
	Women	Men	Total		
Spondyloarthritis	0.45	0.45	0.45		
AS	0.075	0.16	0.12		
PsA	0.27	0.22	0.25		
Aa-IBD	0.021	0.010	0.015		
USpA	0.12	0.094	0.10		

Table 7. The prevalence of SpA (that led to a doctor's consultation), and its component subgroups in southern Sweden by the end of 2007. Age 15 or older.

AS: ankylosing spondylitis; PsA: psoriatric arthritis; Aa-IBD: inflammatory arthritis associated with inflammatory bowel disease; USpA: undifferentiated spondyloarthritis.

The most frequent subgroup of SpA was PsA, with a prevalence of 0.25% (95% CI 0.24-0.26), followed by AS with a prevalence of 0.12% (95% CI 0.11-0.124) and USpA with a prevalence of 0.10% (95% CI 0.098-0.112). Aa-IBD was the least frequent subgroup, with a prevalence of 0.015% (95% CI 0.011-0.018) (Table 7).

Of the total number of SpA cases, 93.6% did not have a combination of SpA diagnoses in the register between 2003-2007. The remaining 6.4% (n=248) had some form of combination of SpA diagnoses. The most frequent combinations were AS and USpA (n=133), and PsA and USpA (n=52).

In a validation analysis, the accuracy of the diagnostic coding between the SHCR and a consecutive series of patients seen at an out-patient rheumatology clinic was evaluated. Medical records for 347 patients were reviewed with regard to the items included in classification criteria for AS, PsA, USpA, and Aa-IBD. A valid SpA diagnosis was found in 340 (98%) of the cases. In the remaining seven patients (2%), reactive arthritis (ReA) was found in two patients; otherwise, the cause was still an unclear rheumatic condition.

The three sensitivity analyses resulted in a crude prevalence ranging from 0.41% to 0.54%, i.e. marginally different from 0.45%. In the first analysis, a more liberal case definition was used where diagnosis was only required in the SHCR on one occasion, resulting in a prevalence of 0.54%. In the second analysis, the denominator was adjusted to simulate the loss of cases only seen in private health care and not forwarded to the SHCR, resulting in a prevalence between 0.41% and 0.51% shown by error bars in Figure 6, by gender and age. In the third analysis, the prevalence was estimated in a health-care district with no private rheumatologist and few private practices, without any adjustment to the denominator, resulting in a prevalence of 0.51%.

Differences in physical activity pattern (Paper II)

The patients with SpA overall met the WHO_{rec} to a higher degree than the Swedish population (RR 1.09; 95% CI 1.04-1.15). The age-adjusted RR for meeting the WHO_{rec} in women with SpA was 1.14 (95% CI 1.06-1.22) and in men it was 1.05 (95% CI 95% 0.97-1.12). The lowest RR was found in young women with PsA (0.60; 95% CI 0.26-0.95). For men, the point estimates were above 1.0 for all age groups except those aged 30-44, where it was just below 1.0 (RR 0.98; 95% CI 0.82-1.14) (Figure 7A, page 52). The age and sex-adjusted RRs for all SpA subgroups, including AS, PsA, USpA, and Aa-IBD, showed higher rates than for the Swedish population (Figure 7B, page 52).

A total of 68% of all patients (n=1,470) met the WHO_{rec}, and more frequently in women (70% vs. 66%, p= 0.007). When slitting WHO_{rec} into MI-PA_{rec} and VI-PA_{rec}, a total of 57% of patients (n=1,237) in the SpA group were exercising at a moderate intensity

(\geq 30 minutes, \geq 5 days a week), more frequently in women (61% vs. 53%, p<0.001). Thirty-two per cent (n=697) of the patients with SpA met the VI-PA_{rec} (exercising more vigorously for at least 30 minutes, 2-3 times a week), more frequently in men (35% vs. 29%, p= 0.01) (Table 8).



Figures 7A and 7B. A. Standardized risk ratios (RRs) and 95% CIs for meeting the WHO_{rec} in women and men in different age groups with spondyloarthritis. B. Age- and sex-standardized risk ratios (RRs) and 95% CIs for meeting the WHO_{rec} in the different subgroups of spondyloarthritis.

Table 8. Physical activity and exercise level of the patients, by gender, and in different spondyloarthritis subgroups

		SpA total	Women	Men	p-value
SpA total	Physical activity level, %	57%	61%	53%	p<0.001
	Exercise level, %	32%	29%	35%	p= 0.011
AS	Physical activity level, %	55%	65%	50%	p<0.001
	Exercise level, %	36%	42%	34%	p= 0.041
PsA	Physical activity level, %	58%	60%	56%	p= 0.078
	Exercise level, %	28%	24%	34%	p<0.001
USpA	Physical activity level, %	57%	62%	49%	p= 0.011
	Exercise level, %	38%	36%	42%	p= 0.172
Aa-IBD	Physical activity level, %	66%	71%	54%	p= 0.269
	Exercise level, %	44%	39%	54%	p= 0.555

Physical activity level: percentage who achieved a level of physical activity of moderate intensity for \geq 30 minutes, \geq 5 days a week. Exercise level: percentage who reached a vigorous level of exercise \geq 30 minutes, 2-3 times a week.

In the multivariate logistic regression analyses, female gender and higher age were associated with meeting the MI-PA_{rec}, with OR ranging from 1.56 to 1.79 (for gender), and OR 1.02 for age per year. Also, a better HRQoL (EQ-5D) was positively associated with the outcome (OR 2.10), while patients with lower physical function (BASFI) (OR 0.93), higher self-reported disease activity (BASDAI) (OR 0.95), and higher score in anxiety (HAD anxiety) (OR 0.97) and depression (HAD depression) (OR 0.94) were less likely to meet the MI-PA_{rec} (significance level ≤ 0.05) (Table 9).

M1-PA _{rec}										
	BASFI ¹ n=2,018		BASDAI ¹ n=1,474		EQ-5D ¹ n=1,973		HAD anxiety ¹ n=2,046		HAD depression ¹ n=2,047	
Variables	OR (95% CI)	p-value	OR (95% CI)	p-value	OR (95% CI)	p-value	OR (95% CI)	p-value	OR (95% CI)	p-value
Men	1		1		1		1		1	
Women	1.64 (1.36;1.99)	< 0.001	1.79 (1.43;2.24)	< 0.001	1.61 (1.33;1.95)	< 0.001	1.57 (1.31;1.87)	< 0.001	1.56 (1.30;1.88)	< 0.001
Age (per 1 year)	1.02 (1.01;1.03)	< 0.001	1.02 (1.01;1.03)	< 0.001	1.02 (1.01;1.03)	< 0.001	1.02 (1.01;1.02)	< 0.001	1.02 (1.01;1.02)	< 0.001
Non-smokers	1		1		1		1		1	
Smokers	0.94 (0.78;1.13)	0.50	0.87 (0.70;1.09)	0.23	0.92 (0.76;1.11)	0.37	0.93 (0.77;1.12)	0.44	0.94 (0.78;1.34)	0.54
$Low \ education \ level^2$	1		1		1		1		1	
High education level	1.03 (0.85;1.25)	0.78	1.00 (0.80;1.26)	0.99	1.07 (0.88;1.30)	0.51	1.03 (0.85;1.25)	0.74	1.03 (0.85;1.25)	0.76
Subgroup										
AS	1		1		1		1		1	
PsA	1.00 (0.80;1.24)	0.97	1.08 (0.84;1.39)	0.57	1.00 (0.80;1.24)	0.98	1.02 (0.82;1.27)	0.86	1.03 (0.83;1.28)	0.79
USpA	1.00 (0.76;1.33)	0.98	0.95 (0.70;1.28)	0.72	0.93 (0.70;1.24)	0.62	1.01 (0.76;1.33)	0.95	1.01 (0.77;1.34)	0.93
Aa-IBD	1.13 (0.57-2.24)	0.73	1.28 (0.57;2.84)	0.55	1.30 (0.65:2.61)	0.46	1.27 (0.64:2.49)	0.50	1.23 (0.62:2.42)	0.55
BASFI, 0-103	0.93 (0.90;0.97)	< 0.001								
BASDAI, 0-103			0.95 (0.90;0.997)	0.04						
EQ-5D, 0-13					2.10 (1.78;5.38)	< 0.001				
HAD anxiety, 0-213							0.97 (0.95;0.99)	0.01		
HAD depression, 0-213									0.94 (0.92;0.97)	< 0.001

Table 9. Results of multiple logistic regression analysis with meeting the MI-PArec (physical activity performed	1≥5
days a week at moderate intensity for \geq 30 minutes) as the dependent variable	

¹The variables were included separately in the multiple logistic regression analysis together with the other independent variables according to high correlation. ²Low education level (\leq 12 years) ³Per unit increase.

Repeating the same multivariate logistic regression analyses using meeting the VI-PA_{rec} as a dependent variable, negative associations were found with higher age (OR 0.99), the diagnosis subgroup PsA (ORs ranging from 0.72 to 0.79), smoking (OR ranging from 0.67 to 0.74), lower physical function BASFI scores (OR 0.87), higher BASDAI scores (OR 0.92), and higher score in the HAD depression scale (OR 0.92). There was a positive association between better HRQoL and the outcome (OR 5.95) (Table 10, page 54).

VI-PA _{rcc}											
	BASFI1 n=1,689		BASDAI n=1,257	l	EQ-5D1 n=1,653	EQ-5D1 n=1,653		HAD anxiety ¹ n=1,709		HAD depression ¹ n=1,709	
Variables	OR (95% CI)	p-value	OR (95% CI)	p-value	OR (95% CI)	p-value	OR (95% CI)	p-value	OR (95% CI)	p-value	
Men	1		1		1		1		1		
Women	0.87 (0.71:1.08)	0.21	0.84 (0.66;1.07)	0.16	0.79 (0.64;0.97)	0.02	0.77 (0.63;0.94)	0.01	0.77 (0.62;0.94)	0.01	
Age (per 1 year)	0.99 (0.98;1.00)	0.05	0.99 (0.98;0.997)	0.01	0.99 (0.98;0.996)	0.002	0.99 (0.98;0.99)	< 0.001	0.99 (0.98;0.99)	< 0.001	
Non-smokers	1		1		1		1		1		
Smokers	0.68 (0.55;0.84)	< 0.001	0.69 (0.54;0.88)	0.002	0.74 (0.60;0.91)	0.005	0.67 (0.55;0.83)	< 0.001	0.68 (0.56;0.84)	< 0.001	
Low education level ²											
High education level	1.07 (0.86;1.32)	0.55	1.06 (0.83;1.35)	0.65	1.12 (0.91;1.38)	0.30	1.14 (0.931;1.41)	0.21	1.12 (0.91;1.38)	0.29	
Subgroup											
AS	1		1		1		1		1		
PsA	0.72 (0.57;0.92)	0.009	0.79 (0.60;1.05)	0.10	0.78 (0.61;0.997)	0.05	0.79 (0.62;0.999)	0.05	0.78 (0.61;0.99)	0.04	
USpA	0.91 (0.67;1.23)	0.53	0.89 (0.64;1.22)	0.46	0.95 (0.70;1.29)	0.75	0.97 (0.72;1.30)	0.82	0.94 (0.69;1.27)	0.68	
Aa-IBD	1.40 (0.68-2.88)	0.36	1.60 (0.71;3.60)	0.26	1.35 (0.66:2.77)	0.42	1.61 (0.80:3.24)	0.18	1.50 (0.74:3.04)	0.26	
BASFI, 0-103	0.87 (0.83;0.91)	< 0.001									
BASDAI, 0-103			0.92 (0.87;0.97)	0.002							
EQ-5D, 0-13					5.95 (3.01;11.8)	< 0.001					
HAD anxiety, 0-213							0.98 (0.96;1.00)	0.10			
HAD depression, 0-213									0.92 (0.90;0.95)	< 0.001	

Table 10. Results of multiple logistic regression analysis with meeting the VI-PA_{rec} (exercising 2-3 times a week at a vigorous level for \geq 30 minutes) as the dependent variable

¹The variables were included separately in the multiple logistic regression analysis together with the other independent variables according to high correlation. ²Low education level (\leq 12 years) ³Per unit increase.

A syntax-error was recognized in the calculations of the HAD score when the manuscript had been published and a report on errata was submitted. The HAD values in the demographics were recalculated (Table 5, page 46). Due to high correlation with BASFI, BASDAI and EQ5D the HAD anxiety and depression scores should not be included in the logistic regressions as a covariate and all values in the logistic regressions have been recalculated. The new calculations were based on separate inclusions of the HAD in the multiple logistic regression analysis together with the other covariates (Table 9, 10). However, this error does not affect the conclusion.

Work productivity (Paper III)

Fifty-five per cent (n=802) of the patients who answered the question concerning reduced productivity (n=1,447) reported no reduction in productivity at work. For those who reported reduced productivity, the mean reduction was 20% (95% CI 18–21). Women reported a statistically significantly higher degree of reduced productivity at work than men (mean reduction 23% vs. 17%, p<0.001). No statistically significant differences were found between the SpA subgroups AS, PsA, and USpA (p=0.174) (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Productivity at work in women and men in different subgroups of spondyloarthritis: AS,

PsA, and USpA. Presented as mean and 95% CI.

Sick-leave (absenteeism >14 days) ranged from 0-91 days per three months with a mean of 19 days (95% CI 17-20). A large proportion (72%) had no sick-leave at all (>14 days). The remaining patients, 28% (n=504/1,773), were registered for sick-leave, with 66 mean net days (95% CI 63-68). Fifteen per cent (n=263/1,773) had full register-based sick-leave, meaning absenteeism of \geq 91 days per three months.

Reduced productivity at work was associated with higher disease activity (BASDAI) (β -est 7.8, p<0.001) (a β -est of 7.8 means that the productivity is reduced by 7.8% when the BASDAI score increases by one step), lower physical function (BASFI) (β -est 7.3, p<0.001), reduced HRQoL (EQ-5D) (β -est -9.6, p<0.001), lower self-efficacy in the ASES pain and symptom scale (β -est -0.5, p<0.001), higher anxiety scores (HAD anxiety) (β -est 2.3 p<0.001) or higher depression scores (HAD depression) (β -est 3.4, p<0.001), and an education level of less than 12 years (β -est 3.9, p=0.013) in patients with SpA (Table 11, page 56).

Potential associations	All β-est	95% CI	p-value	R-square %
BASDAI ¹	7.8	(7.1;8.5)	< 0.001	31
BASFI	7.3	(6.8;7.9)	< 0.001	32
EQ-5D ²	-9.6	(-10.5;-8.8)	< 0.001	27
ASES pain	-0.5	(-0.6;-0.4)	< 0.001	13
ASES symptom	-0.5	(-0.6;-0.5)	< 0.001	15
HAD anxiety	2.3	(1.9;2.6)	< 0.001	11
HAD depression	3.4	(3.0;3.8)	< 0.001	17
Disease duration	-0.1	(-0.3;0.07)	0.248	0
Physical activity ³				
Not meeting rec	2.9	(-0.3;6.2)	0.078	0
Meeting rec	0			
Education level				
\leq 12 years	3.9			
>12 years	0	(0.8;7.0)	0.013	0

Table 11. Univariate ANCOVA. Associations between reduced productivity at work and disease variables, health-related quality of life, and personal variables in patients with spondyloarthritis (n=1,054-1,439)

n=1,054. ²EQ-5D 0.1 unit. ³Meeting or not meeting the WHO recommendations for physical activity. Bold text means a significance level of <0.05.

Predictors of presenteeism (Paper IV)

In the 2011 SSQ, the self-reported mean score of presenteeism was 24.9% (95% CI 23-27%). Women reported a statistically significantly higher degree of presenteeism than men (mean 28% vs. 22%, p<0.001) while no statistically significant differences were found between the SpA subgroups AS, PsA, and USpA (p=0.73).

In the multivariate logistic regression analyses, the dependent variable presenteeism at the 2.5-year follow-up was predicted by presenteeism at baseline (OR 1.04; 95% CI 1.03-1.05) controlled for gender, age, SpA subgroups, and the other possible predictors. Other statistically significant predictors of presenteeism at follow-up were reduced HRQoL (EQ -5D) (OR 0.68), higher disease activity (BASDAI) (OR 1.47), lower physical function (BASFI) (OR 1.42), lower self-efficacy (ASES) pain (OR 0.97) and symptoms (OR 0.97), higher score for anxiety (HAD anxiety) (OR 1.09) and depression (HAD depression) (OR 1.15), smoking (OR 1.73), and having a low level of education (OR 2.14). These variables were added separately in the analysis and were controlled for gender, age, SpA subgroup, and presenteeism at baseline. Disease duration, physical activity level, and sick-leave (also controlled for gender, age, SpA subgroup, and presenteeism at baseline) did not significantly predict presenteeism at follow-up (Table 12).

Variables	OR	95% CI	p-value
Men	1		
Women	1.36	0.97;1.91	0.07
Age (per 1 year)	1.01	0.996;1.03	0.14
Subgroup			
AS	1		
PsA	0.94	0.63;1.42	0.77
USpA	0.76	0.46;1.24	0.27
Productivity in 2009	1.04	1.03;1.05	< 0.001
EQ-5D, 0-1 ¹	0.68	0.57;0.82	< 0.001
BASDAI (0–10) ²	1.47	1.29;1.67	< 0.001
BASFI (0–10) ²	1.42	1.27;1.58	< 0.001
ASES pain (10-100) ³	0.97	0.97;0.98	< 0.001
ASES symptom (10–100) ³	0.97	0.96;0.98	< 0.001
HAD anxiety (0–21) ²	1.09	1.05;1.14	< 0.001
HAD depression (0-21) ²	1.15	1.08;1.22	< 0.001
Non-smoker	1		
Previous smoker/smoker	1.73	1.22;2.45	0.002
Disease duration (per 1 year)	1.00	0.98;1.03	0.75
High education level (≥ 12 years)	1		
Low education level (≤ 12 years)	2.14	1.51;3.04	< 0.001
Meeting physical activity rec4	1		
Not meeting physical activity rec4	1.19	0.83;1.70	0.36
Sick-leave ⁵	1.00	0.99;1.00	0.33

Table 12. Results of multivariate logistic regression analyses with presenteeism in 2011 as the dependent variable, expressed as OR with 95% CI (n=499-691)

Gender, age, spondyloarthritis subgroups, and productivity at baseline in 2009 were analysed first. The other predictors were added separately, all controlled for gender, age, spondyloarthritis subgroups, and productivity in 2009. ¹Per 0.1 unit increase, 0 = worst health ² Per unit increase, best-worst ³ Per unit increase, 0 = worst ⁴ Meeting or not meeting the WHO recommendations for physical activity. ⁵Sick-leave >14 days (0–91 days).

There were no interactions between gender and SpA subgroups with regard to the outcome ($p \ge 0.39$). When controlling for interactions by disease duration, lower education predicted a greater reduction in productivity (presenteeism) at follow-up in patients with longer disease duration than in those with a shorter disease duration (OR 3.43, p<0.001 vs. 1.23, p=0.44). For all other variables, there were no interactions with regard to disease duration.

The mean score for activity impairment outside work was 32.7% (95% CI 31-35). Women reported a statistically significantly higher degree of mean impairment of activity than men (mean 39% vs. 27%, p<0.001). Small but non-significant differences (p=0.07) in degree of mean values in activity impairment outside work were found between the SpA subgroups AS (30%), PsA (32%), and USpA (37%).

A strong association (OR 16.7; 95% CI 11.6–24.3; p<0.001) was found between presenteeism and activity impairment outside work, with both variables dichotomized on the mean values. Having both presenteeism and activity impairment outside work was reported by 33% of the patients, also more commonly in women than in men (39% vs. 26%, p<0.001). Women reported impaired activity outside work without a report of presenteeism to a larger extent (12%) than men (6%) (Figure 9). There were no differences between the three different subgroups AS, PsA, and USpA regarding activity impairment (p=0.37).



Figure 9. N=718. Distribution of presenteeism and/or activity impairment outside work in patients with spondyloarthritis who answered the SpAScania questionnaire in 2011. All proportions are expressed as percentages.

General discussion

The purpose of this thesis was to study the occurrence of SpA and its subgroups in the general population, and to describe the consequences, especially in relation to physical activity and work, for the individual and for society using a population-based cohort of patients.

SpA, with its different subgroups, is much less well studied than some other inflammatory rheumatic joint disorders such as RA. Even though a change in the consequences of chronic arthritis has been described recently in terms of reduced use of the health-care system and more effective pharmacological treatment (Hagel et al. 2013), the basic epidemiology of SpA has hardly been studied. To explore the consequences of SpA for the individual and for society as a whole, this thesis deals with the occurrence of SpA and its subgroups together with physical activity, and work productivity in a population-based cohort of patients with SpA. It also investigates associated and predictive factors for physical activity patterns and work productivity. A more developed understanding of these consequences will be valuable, and useful in clinical practice, when encouraging patients to achieve a healthy level of physical activity and work capacity. The occurrence of SpA reported in this thesis is based on an entire population in a well-defined region of Sweden, and provides a more robust overview than anything already published. A set of PROMs was found to be associated with patients with SpA who were at risk of having a worse prognosis both in terms of reduced level of physical activity and reduced productivity at work: HRQoL, disease activity, physical function, self-efficacy, and mental health status. These PROMs can help health professionals to identify patients at an early stage who are in need of more extensive care and individualized coaching.

Prevalence of spondyloarthritis

Up-to-date estimates of disease occurrence are highly valued and improve the possibility of better health-care planning and use of resources, but there are very few data concerning SpA. In southern Sweden, the prevalence of SpA leading to a consultation with a doctor was found to be 0.45% (study I), which is in line with some other population-based studies in Europe that have also found a prevalence of about 0.5% (Saraux *et al.* 1999; Andrianakos *et al.* 2003; Trontzas *et al.* 2005). In other European studies, the prevalence of SpA has fluctuated between 0.3% and 1.9%, which could be due to different study designs, genetic factors such as the frequency of HLA-B27 in different populations, and different classification criteria (Braun *et al.* 1998; Bruges-Armas *et al.* 2002; Saraux *et al.* 2005; De Angelis *et al.* 2007; Adomaviciute *et al.* 2008). AS and PsA were found to be the two most prevalent subgroups of SpA, representing 80% of the cases, which also is in line with earlier data (Saraux *et al.* 2005). The prevalence of AS (0.12%) was higher in Sweden than in other parts of the world, which can in part be

explained by a different distribution of the HLA-B27 phenotype (Hukuda *et al.* 2001; Helmick *et al.* 2008). PsA, the most frequent subgroup of SpA, had a prevalence of 0.25%, whereas earlier reports have varied from about 0.06% to 0.29% (Braun *et al.* 1998; Shbeeb *et al.* 2000; Andrianakos *et al.* 2003; Saraux *et al.* 2005; Nossent *et al.* 2009; Wilson *et al.* 2009). The sex distribution in SpA was found to be equal in women and men, which agrees with some other studies (Boyer *et al.* 1994; Saraux *et al.* 1999; Saraux *et al.* 2005; Adomaviciute *et al.* 2008) but contradicts others (Braun *et al.* 1998; Andrianakos *et al.* 2003). The inconsistent patterns can be explained by differences when identifying the cases, where earlier studies included a larger proportion of individuals from specialized care or mostly HLA-B27-positive blood donors with AS while the current study was based on the entire population, thereby also including cases with less severe disease (Braun *et al.* 1998; Hukuda *et al.* 2001; Trontzas *et al.* 2005).

The European Standard Population was selected as the reference population in study I, as the article was published in a European journal, to enable comparisons with other countries and put the results in a broader context. This reference population is commonly used when comparisons are made between European countries, and it is considered to be trustworthy (Waterhouse *et al.* 1976).

Disease consequences

To gain a better understanding of prognosis of the disease in clinical practice, earlier studies have concentrated on traditional observational outcome measures, such as disease activity (van der Heijde *et al.* 1999). In recent years, it has been more acceptable to use PROMs; this has also been suggested by the ASAS and OMERACT in order to provide a broader view of the patient's situation (Boonen *et al.* 2010a; Braun *et al.* 2011).

Disease consequences for physical activity

Physical activity and exercise have become of great importance in improvement of health, and attention to the value of physical activity has frequently been suggested as an important intervention (WHO 2002; Blair *et al.* 2009; Alford 2010; Lee *et al.* 2010; Sieverdes *et al.* 2010) and a cost-effective way of maintaining health (WHO 2002). Compliance to physical activity regimes to promote and maintain health, as recommended by the WHO, has hardly been studied, and an increased knowledge in this area can guide health professionals in their everyday work. In the SpAScania cohort, these recommendations on physical activity were successfully adopted by more than two-thirds of the patients with SpA. The patients were more physically active (68%) than the general Swedish population (65%) (study II), a phenomenon that was also found in an earlier Swedish report on RA patients (Eurenius *et al.* 2005), but the opposite has also been reported in patients with self-reported arthritis (Hootman *et al.* 2003; Fontaine *et al.* 2004; Halvorsen *et al.* 2012). The discrepancy may be explained by methodological differences,

both due to differences in identifying the patients and to different ways of assessing physical activity. Regular exercise is an established part of non-pharmacological care in the AS subgroup (Zochling *et al.* 2006a), which may in part explain why the SpA cohort reported a somewhat higher level of physical activity than in the general population. According to a recently published article, these recommendations are useful for all patients, irrespective of disease stage, and should be started as soon as possible (Ozgocmen *et al.* 2012).

There were some differences between men and women, as women were more physically active than men (study II), which contrasts with an earlier finding in the arthritis- and general populations, where men and younger individuals were more physically active (Hootman et al. 2003; Fontaine et al. 2004; Hurkmans et al. 2010). The explanation for this is not obvious, but could be due in part to the fact that men have more severe disease than women, with more radiographic abnormalities (Rudwaleit et al. 2009a). Women may also be more inclined to follow recommendations regarding health-related behaviour (Gavin et al. 2011), and advice about exercise has been offered to these patients for a long time. It was found that women were more prone to perform physical activity at a moderate level while men preferred vigorous physical activity. Women reported poorer perceived health, which has also been reported by others (Dagfinrud et al. 2004; Roussou et al. 2011) and could explain why female patients prefer to be only moderately physically active. This could also be explained by different preferences for exercise between genders, whereby women prefer walking and gardening while men prefer more intensive sports (Sundstrom et al. 2002). Interestingly, young women (18-29 years) with SpA had a tendency to be less physically active than women of corresponding age in the general population. This was the case despite that the young women had better disease activity scores and physical function scores, lower body mass index, and despite the fact that there were fewer smokers in this group as compared with the older age groups (study II). A larger proportion of the patients in this young group have PsA, and the lower levels of physical activity can partly be explained by the different clinical picture for this subgroup. PsA patients suffer more from inflammation of peripheral joints than patients in the other SpA subgroups (Roussou et al. 2012), which could lead to imprecise treatment recommendations by health professionals in clinical practice.

Even though the cross-sectional design leaves the causality unresolved, the findings indicate that poorer self-reported HRQoL, higher disease activity, and lower physical function were associated with and can partly explain, the reduced level of physical activity (study II). However, no association was found between achieving the recommended level of physical activity and reduced productivity (studies III and IV) in patients with SpA, which was a hypothesis since work in most cases presupposes a certain level of physical function. It is known that an adaptation to the disease occurs gradually (Ward *et al.* 2013), which could partly explain why there were no associations. Regardless of the cause, there should be general awareness that exercise at a more vigorous level may be more important from a cardiovascular point of view (Sassen *et al.* 2009). The benefits of physical activity are probably already apparent at an earlier stage of the disease, and in

recent studies the mean disease duration was between 10 and 20 years in the four different SpA subgroups. Low levels of exercise have been found to be predictive of disability in patients with low back pain and neck pain (Enthoven *et al.* 2006; Carroll *et al.* 2008), while the relationship between physical activity and work in patients with arthritis is complex (Kaptein *et al.* 2013) and hardly studied. To further explore a possible link, there may be a need for other ways of measuring physical activity, as with the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) or with observed measurements (aerobic capacity, accelerometer), which more clearly exemplifies what the individuals actually do.

The National Board of Health and Welfare in Sweden (Socialstyrelsen) recommends that all health professionals should work actively to support patients in achieving a healthy lifestyle (National Board of Health and Welfare 2011). Coaching of these patients involves giving advice on "how to live with the disease", the overall objective being to suffer as few consequences of the disease as possible. The most important take-home clinical message is that one should make the recommendation irrespective of SpA subgroup, and also at an early stage of the disease. To offer opportunities for physical activity but also to coach the patients and motivate them will be the key in future treatment and care.

Disease consequences for work productivity

SpA has a relatively low prevalence as compared to low back pain, but due to the early onset, it affects patients for most of their working lives. This is important to understand in the context of work productivity. However, SpA as a whole, and also certain subgroups, have not been sufficiently studied regarding work productivity, and there is a gap in our knowledge.

Presenteeism

An influence of reduction on work productivity has previously been reported in RA patients (Filipovic *et al.* 2011), in those with other forms of arthritis (Burton *et al.* 2006; McDonald *et al.* 2011), and in AS patients (Kobelt *et al.* 2004; Healey *et al.* 2011; Rafia *et al.* 2012). Work productivity was also found to be reduced in the SpAScania cohort, and 45% reported a reduction to some extent (study III). This figure is in agreement with data from patients with osteoarthritis (44%) (Zhang *et al.* 2010), but it is lower than what has been reported in patients with AS (53%) (Boonen *et al.* 2010b). The Dutch AS cohort (Boonen *et al.* 2010b) came from specialist rheumatology clinical settings, which differ from the SpAScania cohort as patients were included from both specialist care and primary health care. Consistent with the results regarding mean reduction of productivity (20%) in study III, researchers in the United Kingdom found a mean reduction of productivity at work of 19% (Healey *et al.* 2011). In a study from Canada on patients with AS, a higher degree of reduced productivity (42%) was found, probably also due to methodological differences when drawing up the cohort (Maksymowych *et al.* 2010).

The findings from studies III and IV support the previous literature in general, but have added information about gender differences and about similarities and differences between the SpA subgroups. Women reported lower productivity than men (studies III and IV), which may in part be related to worse self-reported outcomes in women. It is well known that women have worse reports in PROMs on physical function, psychosocial health, pain, and disease activity (Keefe *et al.* 2000; Zink *et al.* 2000; Dagfinrud *et al.* 2005a).

When factors tentatively contributing to reduced productivity at work (presenteeism) were studied, associations (cross-sectional, study III) and predictors (longitudinal, study IV) agreed to a great extent. Reduced HRQoL (EQ-5D), higher disease activity (BASDAI), lower physical function (BASFI), lower self-efficacy (ASES), and higher score for depression (HAD depression) were all associated with (study III) and predictive of (study IV) reduced productivity at work in patients with SpA. Presenteeism could also be predicted by presenteeism two and a half years earlier, by higher score for anxiety (HAD anxiety), by smoking, and by having a low level of education (≤ 12 years) (study IV). A previous study has indicated that patients with the most severe disease are at greatest risk of developing presenteeism (Rohekar *et al.* 2010), which was also confirmed in the current study. It appears that several aspects of the patient's life situation affect his or her ability to be productive at work, and there is a need to take these considerations into account in order to maintain work productivity in all patients with SpA.

According to the results presented in study IV, limitation of activities during leisure time (activity outside work) and presenteeism go hand in hand. A comparable proportion of patients with SpA were affected in presenteeism and activity impairment, and to a somewhat greater extent in women. Men prioritize their leisure time activity to a greater extent than women, while women first reduce their activity outside work before letting a worse health affect their working life. Impaired activity outside work could indicate problems at work, and these issues need to be addressed and used as a basis for actions in the clinical situation. It is important to be aware that if health professionals in the clinic encounter a patient with reduced activity in leisure time, there will be a high probability that there is also reduced productivity at work (presenteeism). Several PROMs were shown to be associated with presenteeism, and as there is a high correlation between several of these variables, it is perhaps less important which factor is measured and more important to find those patients with worse scores, regardless of the PROMs chosen. By using relatively simple and common self-reported instruments, health-care providers can receive indications of whether the patients are at risk of reduced productivity at work and they can help by giving an appropriate treatment regime and provide individualized counseling.

Absenteeism

Little is known about sick-leave and work status, measured as absenteeism in patients with SpA, while several studies have investigated the impact of AS (Ward *et al.* 2001). As a previous study has shown recall bias and low compliance between self-reported and

register-based data for sciatica (Grovle *et al*, 2012; Strombeck *et al*. 2009; Boonen *et al*. 2010b; Rafia *et al*. 2012), only sick-leave data from a register is reported in Paper III. A large proportion of SpA patients with no sick-leave were found (study III): only 28% were recorded to have any sick-leave (AS 25%, PsA 31%, and USpA 26%), which is lower than reported in three European countries: the Netherlands (52%), France (48%), and Belgium (47%) (Boonen *et al*. 2002). In the study by Boonen, a larger proportion of patients were men, mean age was lower, and there was worse HRQoL and a lower degree of physical function than in the patients in study IV, which could have amplified the differences. However, there are major difficulties in comparing work productivity status and sick-leave data between countries, which has implications for the generalizability of the results. In the study by Boonen, the sick-leave was measured per year, but in study III the sick-leave was based on the previous three months, which would certainly have affected the comparability of the results (Boonen *et al*. 2002).

There was no association between presenteeism (reduced productivity at work) and absenteeism (register-based sick-leave) (study III), which may have been related to different assessment methods for these two outcomes. Yet another explanation might be that the patients who reported reduced productivity at work at a certain level passed on to absenteeism and were then no longer included in the analysis. Although it is difficult to draw conclusions about the results due to the variation in social security systems in different countries, the impact of AS on work status has consistently been substantial in all reports, and Paper III shows that this is applicable also to the SpA group as a whole. When we studied the relationship between self-reported data for presenteeism and register-based measures of sick-leave, no correlation was found. It appears that presenteeism and register-based sick-leave reflect and measure different dimensions of work disability, and thus represent two incomparable outcomes which justifies more studies on absenteeism. In the current analysis, only presenteeism was studied in greater depth.

SpAScania Questionnaire

The majority of the questionnaires used in the SSQ for assessment of patients in the SpAScania cohort have been validated for patients with AS or for other rheumatic diseases, and were considered trustworthy. The questions about physical activity used in study II can be considered to be generic measures. To date, there have as yet been no publications concerning their validity, but they were based on the WHO recommendations on how to measure self-reported physical activity in 2009. Since the questions used in study II have also been used in other Swedish surveys and were similar to the questions used in the national health survey, the methodological problems seem marginal. Observed and self-reported measures (accelerometer vs. questionnaires) of physical activity are not comparable (Hagstromer *et al.* 2010), why results in study II have only been compared with other studies based on self-reported data. At the time of planning for the SSQ in 2008, the national recommendations for physical activity were

used and they did not include measurements of muscle strength, which have now been added to the recommendations (Demmelmaier *et al.* 2013). In the follow-up SSQ in 2011, the validated IPAQ was used (IPAQ group 2005). The IPAQ makes it possible to study sedentary leisure time behaviour and we know that this behaviour has a negative effect on other chronic diseases (Dunstan *et al.* 2010). Questions about strength training were not included, in the follow-up 2011 but it would be best to also include validated questions on strength training in future studies or upon further follow-ups.

The question about work productivity (in study III), which was separated from the complete but valid questionnaire WPAI, has not been validated when used separately, but it was used after a face and content validation procedure. Extracting this question from a wider perspective of work productivity could have affected the results. The full WPAI was inserted in the follow-up, and in the future it should be used in its entirety.

Strengths and limitations

Strengths

The strengths of the design of these epidemiological studies were that they were based on the entire health-care seeking population of a well-defined geographic region (Skåne) with approximately 1.3 million inhabitants. All the patients who fulfilled the inclusion criteria were included in the analysis. The recruitment of the SpAScania cohort covered a long time period (5 years), which increased the chances of identifying and including patients who had less frequent visits to the health-care system. The SpAScania cohort included different subgroups of SpA and captured patients from both primary and secondary care, therefore also representing cases with less severe disease (in contrast to several other studies, which were solely based on patients identified at rheumatology clinics). Another strength was that all the patients had been identified with the same method. The large sample size of the SpAScania cohort made it possible to study rather detailed age and sex characteristics of the different subgroups.

Limitations

There were also some limitations in the design. Firstly, since cases were found from the ICD-10 codes in a register, the validity of the diagnoses might be questioned. To compensate for this, validation of the diagnosis was done by reading the medical records, resulting in a high level of accuracy regarding the diagnoses in the register (ICD-10). Secondly, as there are no formal guidelines for diagnosis setting of SpA, the prevalence is based on patient-driven clinic visits and on the judgement of the physician. Thirdly, the diagnosis of patients seen only in private practice was not listed in the register that the estimates were based on, but the sensitivity analyses showed only marginal effects on the prevalence. Fourthly, the heterogeneity of the SpA group makes interpretation and

implementation of the findings difficult. The SpAScania cohort was not recruited as a traditional clinical patient cohort, which could make comparisons of disease activity and disease severity more difficult. The population-based SpAScania cohort is therefore not fully comparable to other SpA cohorts. Different ways of identifying cohorts are needed, but we must be aware of the difficulties in comparing them. Furthermore, the non-response to the questionnaires of approximately 30–40% is a limitation and may have introduced response bias affecting the generalizability, even though the response rate was similar to that in other questionnaire-based population studies (Swedish State Institute of Public Health 2010; Healey *et al.* 2011; Rafia *et al.* 2012). Lastly, the time between the 2009 SSQ and 2011 SSQ is short when studying patients with a lifelong disease, and in futures studies it would be interesting to see if the found predictors are stable also in a longer perspective.

Clinical implications

I have found that the results from this thesis could have certain clinical implications in the care and treatment of patients with SpA.

The findings presented show that the prevalence of SpA is 0.45% and the time between first symptoms and diagnosis is about six years. As the disease is life-long, often with an early onset, and has an effect on several dimensions of life, the consequences for the individual and society are significant. The main challenges in routine practice will be to reduce the time between onset of symptoms and diagnosis, and to identify individuals with possible disease at an early stage and start with the treatment. With greater awareness and knowledge, this time could be reduced. This presupposes knowledge of characteristic symptoms, classification criteria, and management when health professionals meet these patients in the early stages. It is often the general practitioners, the primary nurse, or the PT who meet the patient with back pain first. Regardless of whom, it is important to identify possible SpA patients early on and if necessary refer them to specialist care, which calls for education. A PT specialist in rheumatology could then serve as a help to the primary health-care team and contribute to a first screening through examination, to sort out possible SpA patients. Considering PROMs and with good insight into the differences between mechanical and inflammatory symptoms, PTs can assist rheumatologists in identifying individuals with SpA.

Approximately one-third of all patients with SpA do not meet the minimum requirements for physical activity. It is therefore important to provide recommendations on physical activity (regardless of SpA subgroup) at an early stage of the disease. Patients should be offered opportunities for physical activity, and also coaching strategies and encouragement to exercise. Exercise and physical activity are still key factors in the treatment and care, and PTs have the education and training needed to take a lead in this area.

Several factors including lower physical function, higher disease activity, reduced HRQoL, and impaired mental health were found to influence the levels of physical activity and work productivity. By using a relatively simple self-reported instrument common in clinical practice, health professionals can get indications of whether the patients are at risk of reduced physical activity level and/or reduced work productivity. These considerations should be examined by the health professionals when meeting an SpA patient, and the results from these PROMs can be used in clinical practice to individualize care.

Patients with reduced productivity at work were to a large extent also affected regarding their activity outside work. Activity impairment outside work could then reflect reduced work productivity, and a question about leisure time activity is probably more useful than questions about work productivity when patients visit different health professionals. The strong association suggests that a simple question about activity impairment outside work could be important in clinical practice to detect also the risk of having or developing a reduced productivity at work.

Coaching is about meeting the patients "at their own level", trying to motivate them, and helping them to overcome obstacles and see opportunities. All of the health-care team can and should support the patient in his/her effort to achieve a healthy lifestyle, including physical activity, activity outside work, and activity at work. The PT could serve as the expert for alternative physical activities, adapting activities and customizing exercises so that every patient has the opportunity to perform them.

The findings presented in this thesis could present a challenge to health professionals to identify possible diagnoses at an early stage, and to tailor activities, treatment, and care for patients with SpA. Furthermore, it is important for both patients and society to be able to identify those at risk of a worse prognosis by using simple clinical questions in routine practice.

Summary in English

Spondyloarthritis (SpA) is an inflammatory rheumatic disease consisting of several subdiagnoses, e.g. ankylosing spondylitis (AS), psoriatic arthritis (PsA), arthritis associated with inflammatory bowel disease (Aa-IBD), undifferentiated spondyloarthritis (USpA), reactive arthritis (ReA), and juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA). The chronic forms (subgroups) of SpA are AS, PsA, Aa-IBD, and USpA where stiffness and pain are key symptoms. Insidious onset back pain, morning stiffness, waking up at night, and improvement from exercise are common characteristics. The disease is life-long, often with early onset, and can cause limitations in physical function and activity, affects the ability to work, and has a negative effect on health-related quality of life. However, little has been published on prevalence and we need to know more about the consequences of the disease to be able to identify patients at an early stage and to advise patients who are likely to have a poor prognosis. The overall aim of the present work was to determine the prevalence of SpA and to study the consequences for the individual and society in a population-based cohort of patients with the disease.

The four studies included in the thesis are based on a cohort of patients with SpA, identified through the Skåne Health Care Register. By searching for 12 ICD-10 codes for SpA that had led to a doctor's consultation during 2003-2007, the prevalence of SpA could be estimated in study I (n=3,852). The prevalence was 0.45% in adults (\geq 15 years), and SpA was equally common in women and men. The prevalence in different subgroups was 0.12% in AS, 0.25% in PsA, 0.0015% in Aa-IBD, and 0.10% in USpA with different sex distribution patterns.

In May 2009, a questionnaire was sent to all the patients in the cohort who were 18 years or older. The response rate was 58%, and data from the patients who had answered the survey formed the basis of Studies II and III.

Study II (n=2,167) dealt with the proportion who met the recommendations for physical activity, in comparison with the Swedish population. Seven out of 10 patients with SpA met the recommendations, more often in women than in men. The proportion was somewhat higher in the SpA cohort than in the Swedish population.

Study III examined reduced work productivity and associated factors in those of working age (n=1,773). Analyses showed that reduced productivity at work was associated with reduced health-related quality of life, higher disease activity, lower physical function, lower self-efficacy, worse mental health, and low education level.

Study IV was longitudinal, and in addition to data from the 2009 survey, data from a follow-up postal survey in November 2011 were used. Predictors of presenteeism (reduced productivity at work) and association between presenteeism and activity impairment outside work were assessed in all patients of working age who had answered both surveys (n=1,253). Analysis showed that presenteeism could be predicted from

several patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs): reduced health-related quality of life (HRQoL), higher disease activity, lower physical function, lower self-efficacy, anxiety, depression, smoking, and low education level. A clear association between presenteeism and activity impairment outside work was found and 33% of patients reported both presenteeism and activity impairment.

To conclude, the occurrence of SpA in the population is rather low as compared to low back pain. Affected individuals have a life-long disease that has significant consequences for the individual and for society. Several PROMs including reduced HRQoL, higher disease activity, lower physical function, and impaired mental health were found to be associated with and predictive of both reduced level of physical activity and reduced productivity at work in patients with SpA who were at risk of a poor prognosis. This knowledge is important and can help clinicians to identify patients at an early stage who are at risk of a worse prognosis. This information will also be valuable when coaching SpA patients to maintain a healthy level of physical activity and work ability. Together with the patient, the entire health-care team should promote a sustainable and healthy lifestyle regarding, for example, physical activity and work, but the physiotherapist should assume the role of expert regarding patient-specific physical activity and exercise.

Summary in Swedish – Sammanfattning på Svenska

Spondylartrit (SpA) som betyder "inflammation i ryggradens kotor" är ett paraplybegrepp för flera olika reumatiska sjukdomar t ex ankyloserande spondylit (AS), psoriasisartrit (PsA), artrit vid samtidig förekomst av inflammatorisk tarmsjukdom (Aa-IBD, Crohns sjukdom eller ulcerös kolit), odifferentierad spondylartrit (USpA), reaktiv artrit (ReA) och juvenil idiopatisk artrit (JIA). Sjukdomen kan delas in i två varianter; "axiell SpA" med besvär i huvudsak från ryggskelettet och "perifer SpA" med besvär framförallt i och kring övriga leder. Smygande debut av lågt sittande ryggsmärta, störd nattsömn och morgonstelhet kännetecknar den axiella SpA-sjukdomen. Symtomen lindras av rörelse medan stillasittande oftast förstärker besvären. Andra vanliga besvär från muskelfästen runt leder, trötthet, ögoninflammation, hudsjukdomen psoriasis, inflammation i tarmen, vilket är besvär som kan förekomma i olika utsträckning och i varierad grad. Underdiagnosen PsA kan ge besvär från ryggen men ger först och främst besvär från andra leder i kroppen. Oftast är färre leder engagerade jämfört med tex besvären vid klassisk ledgångsreumatism (RA).

Sjukdomen är livslång och debuterar ofta tidigt i livet vilket medför konsekvenser för såväl den fysiska funktionen, arbetsförmågan och möjligheten till att ha ett aktivt liv. Dessutom medför ofta sjukdomen en negativ påverkan på den hälsorelaterade livskvaliteten. Det finns behov av dokumentation kring förekomst, dvs hur många som är drabbade, men också kring vilka konsekvenser sjukdomen ger. Denna kunskap är viktig och kan bidra till att tidigt identifiera och stödja de individer som har sämst prognos. Det övergripande syftet med avhandlingen och de fyra ingående studierna var att undersöka förekomst av och de konsekvenser som SpA medför för individen och samhället.

Individerna till den aktuella avhandlingen är identifierade genom Region Skånes vårddatabas. I detta register finns information om alla vårdbesök som görs i regionen. Alla besök hos läkare i offentlig vård registreras även med en diagnoskod. Individerna till de fyra studierna som ingår i avhandlingen identifierades genom en sökning i registret av 12 olika diagnoskoder (ICD-10 koder) för SpA. I studie I beräknades förekomst i form av prevalens utifrån alla de 3852 individer som besökt en läkare och registrerats med en SpA diagnos mellan åren 2003-2007, vilka utgör SpA gruppen. Prevalensen var 0,45 % av den vuxna befolkningen (≥15 år). Sjukdomsförekomsten för gruppen som helhet var samma bland kvinnor som bland män. Prevalensen för respektive undergrupp var 0,12 % för AS, 0,25 % för PsA, 0,0015 % för Aa-IBD och 0,10 % för USpA.

En enkät skickades via post i maj 2009, till alla individer som identifierats i registret och som utformade SpA gruppen. Svarsfrekvensen var 58 % och data från de individer som återsände en besvarad enkät ligger till grund för studierna II-IV.

I studie II undersöktes i vilken grad de 2167 individerna uppnådde rekommendationen för en hälsosam fysisk aktivitet. Detta innebär 150 minuters fysisk aktivitet på måttlig ansträngningsnivå eller 75 minuter på mer ansträngande nivå varje vecka. Genom data hämtad från folkhälsoinstitutet gjordes en jämförelse mellan den fysiska aktivitetsnivån i SpA gruppen och den svenska befolkningen. Sju av 10 individer med SpA uppnådde rekommenderad nivå för en hälsosam fysisk aktivitet. Kvinnorna uppnådde rekommendationen i något högre grad och vid jämförelse med befolkningen visade det sig att individer med SpA något oftare uppnådde rekommendationen för fysisk aktivitet.

I studie III undersöktes i vilken grad individerna var nedsatta i sin självrapporterade produktivitet när de var på arbetet, men också vilka faktorer som utmärkte de med en nedsatt produktivitet. Analyser gjordes av data från de 1773 individer som var i arbetsför ålder. Resultatet visade att sämre hälsorelaterad livskvalitet, högre sjukdomsaktivitet, sämre fysisk funktion, sämre tilltro till sin egen förmåga och att rapportera mer depressiva besvär associerade med en nedsatt produktivitet i arbetet.

I studie IV användes förutom data från 2009 års enkät, även data från en uppföljningsenkät som skickades ut i november 2011. Denna studie baserades på data från två separata tidpunkter vilket innebär att den är longitudinell. Graden av nedsatt produktivitet i arbetet undersöktes hos alla 1253 individer i arbetsför ålder som besvarat de båda enkäterna. Nästan hälften av individerna (45 %) rapporterade någon grad av nedsatt produktivitet. Analyserna visade att graden av nedsatt produktivitet i arbetet kunde förutsägas av flera faktorer, såsom nedsatt hälsorelaterad livskvalitet, högre sjukdomsaktivitet, sämre fysisk funktion, sämre tilltro till sin egen förmåga och nedsatt mental hälsa i ångest och depressionstest, rökning och låg utbildningsnivå. Samband mellan nedsatt produktivitet i arbetet och aktivitet på fritiden studerades också, där resultatet visade ett starkt samband mellan dessa båda faktorer. Tre fjärdedelar av dem med påverkan på produktiviteten rapporterade även minskad fritidsaktivitet och 33 % rapporterade både nedsatt produktivitet och minskad aktivitet på fritiden.

Förekomsten av ryggsmärta utlöst av SpA är förhållandevis liten i befolkningen i förhållande till ryggsmärta av annan orsak, men för de individer som insjuknar i en kronisk och livslång sjukdom, innebär det negativa konsekvenser både för den som drabbas och för samhället. Ett flertal frågeformulär kring hälsorelaterad livskvalitet, sjukdomsaktivitet och fysisk och psykisk funktion som används i den kliniska vardagen, visade sig kunna förutsäga vilka individer som har störst risk för sämre prognos både avseende fysisk aktivitetsnivå och avseende produktivitet i arbetet. Kunskapen har betydelse för kliniskt verksam vårdpersonal, i arbetet med att tidigt identifiera de med störst risk för ett sämre mående. En ökad förståelse kring dessa prognostiska faktorer i vården är värdefull, för att underlätta arbetet med att vägleda individen till en hälsosam livsstil, t ex med regelbunden fysisk aktivitet, och till att fortsätta kunna arbeta. Tillsammans med individen själv bör all vårdpersonal som samverkar i teamet stödja och i dialog med individen diskutera förutsättningar för en hållbar hälsosam livsstil, men sjukgymnasten bör inta rollen som expert avseende den specifikt anpassade träningen.
Acknowledgements

In the years before the work for this thesis started, my life took some overwhelming turns, which affected my outlook on life and also motivated me to take the chance to become a PhD student when the opportunity arose. In many ways, these six years have been like another "marathon" with ups and downs, challenging, but worth the trip. I want to express my sincere gratitude to all those who have supported me during this work and who have made this thesis possible. In particular, I am grateful to:

My supervisor Ingemar Petersson, for introducing me to the world of science, for your never-ending enthusiasm, valuable discussions, and excellent scientific guidance throughout the work. Your ability to inspire, to be a visionary, and to create opportunities has been, and still is, invaluable. Thank you for giving me the chance to take part in the Epi-centrum team and to start up the work with the SpAScania cohort.

My assisting supervisor Ann Bremander, for encouragement and support the whole way, also long before the work for this thesis started; for stimulating discussions and for constructive criticism in research but also in life itself. With your patience, excellent teaching skills, and clarity of vision you have helped me to get back on track many times. It is thanks to you that I agreed to become a PhD student!

My assisting supervisor Stefan Bergman, for your wisdom and your sharp advice on my scientific work, for valuable criticism of the manuscripts and thesis, and for your generosity in sharing your great knowledge in the field of statistics. Thank you for giving me the opportunity to take part in the FoU Spenshult team (and for making it easier to run when the injuries piled up!).

All my co-authors: Martin Englund, Lennart Jacobsson, Britta Strömbeck, Aleksandra Turkiewicz, and Pierre Geborek for your invaluable help in this work, for fruitful discussions in planning the projects, for taking time to read and make constructive comments on my manuscripts, and for sharing your broad but different knowledge in epidemiology, rheumatology, physiotherapy, methodology, statistics, and about cohorts.

Tore Saxne, for giving me an affiliation and for accepting me as a PhD student at the Department of Rheumatology in Lund, and Jan-Åke Nilsson for support and explanations about statistical issues.

My friends and present or former colleagues at FoU Spenshult for the inspiring atmosphere. Pia, Henrik, and Maria, thank you for skilful help with typesetting and the layout of the thesis, and also for your help in different ways long before that! Your support in various issues like computers, figures, tables, photos, and Endnote has been invaluable. Ingrid and Maria N, for valuable feedback on my work, and also Ulrika, Carina, Susanne, Maria S, and Barbro thanks all of you for help with practical and mental issues and for open-minded discussions. My PhD student and physiotherapy colleagues: Sofia Hagel (now postdoc) and Karina Malm, for your friendship and your constant positive support in all things, large and small. Being able to share experiences with you regarding one's role as physiotherapist, PhD student, wife, and mother has meant a lot to me. And the journeys we have experienced... I'm hoping that there will be others!

All my colleagues at Epi-centrum Skåne, the former MORSE-project. Expecially thanks to Sofia Löfvendahl but also to Lotte, Anna, Changchai, Pernilla, Birgitta, Aleksandra, Ljuba, Rebecca, Ann, Eva, and Martin Z, who have made my work easier in many different ways. Also, Dennis and Thor, for assistance in the data-extraction procedure.

Present and former colleagues at Spenshult Hospital for giving me the necessary working envirorment, especially my earlier head Lena Gottberg; without your understanding of my decision to move on, I probably would have "drowned in the pool". And all of you at the Department of Physiotherapy, your friendship, support, understanding, and interest in my work meant a lot to me!

All the people with SpA who took the time to answer the extensive questionnaires or helped me in other ways over the years. You are a lovely group to work with!

All my friends and relatives for walks, runs, talks, laughs, tears, dinners, journeys, help, and for always getting me back on track! Most of all, to Per for endless love and support during ups and downs, and to our children Emil, Alma, and Algot, who put things into perspective. You are the sunshine of my life!

References

- Adomaviciute D, Pileckyte M, Baranauskaite A, Morvan J, Dadoniene J and Guillemin F. Prevalence survey of rheumatoid arthritis and spondyloarthropathy in Lithuania. Scand J Rheumatol 2008;37(2): 113-9.
- Alamanos Y, Papadopoulos NG, Voulgari PV, Karakatsanis A, Siozos C and Drosos AA. Epidemiology of ankylosing spondylitis in Northwest Greece, 1983-2002. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2004;43(5): 615-8.
- Alenius GM, Jidell E, Nordmark L and Rantapaa Dahlqvist S. Disease manifestations and HLA antigens in psoriatic arthritis in northern Sweden. Clin Rheumatol 2002;21(5): 357-62.
- Alford L. What men should know about the impact of physical activity on their health. Int J Clin Pract 2010;64 (13): 1731-4.
- Amor B, Dougados M and Mijiyawa M. [Criteria of the classification of spondylarthropathies]. Rev Rhum Mal Osteoartic 1990;57(2): 85-9.
- Andrianakos A, Trontzas P, Christoyannis F, Dantis P, Voudouris C, Georgountzos A, Kaziolas G, Vafiadou E, Pantelidou K, Karamitsos D, Kontelis L, Krachtis P, Nikolia Z, Kaskani E, Tavaniotou E, Antoniades C, Karanikolas G and Kontoyanni A. Prevalence of rheumatic diseases in Greece: a cross-sectional population based epidemiological study. The ESORDIG Study. J Rheumatol 2003;30(7): 1589-601.
- Ariza-Ariza R, Hernandez-Cruz B and Navarro-Sarabia F. Physical function and health-related quality of life of Spanish patients with ankylosing spondylitis. Arthritis Rheum 2003;49(4): 483-7.
- Armstrong AW, Schupp C, Wu J and Bebo B. Quality of life and work productivity impairment among psoriasis patients: findings from the National Psoriasis Foundation survey data 2003-2011. PLoS One 2012;7 (12): e52935.
- Arvidsson S, Arvidsson B, Fridlund B and Bergman S. Factors promoting health-related quality of life in people with rheumatic diseases: a 12 month longitudinal study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2011;12: 102.
- Aytekin E, Caglar NS, Ozgonenel L, Tutun S, Demiryontar DY and Demir SE. Home-based exercise therapy in patients with ankylosing spondylitis: effects on pain, mobility, disease activity, quality of life, and respiratory functions. Clin Rheumatol 2012;31(1): 91-7.
- Bakland G, Nossent HC and Gran JT. Incidence and prevalence of ankylosing spondylitis in Northern Norway. Arthritis Rheum 2005;53(6): 850-5.
- Bansback N, Zhang W, Walsh D, Kiely P, Williams R, Guh D, Anis A and Young A. Factors associated with absenteeism, presenteeism and activity impairment in patients in the first years of RA. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2012;51(2): 375-84.
- Baraliakos X and Braun J. Spondyloarthritides. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2011;25(6): 825-42.
- Baraliakos X and Braun J. Biologic therapies for spondyloarthritis: what is new? Curr Rheumatol Rep 2012;14 (5): 422-7.
- Baraliakos X, Listing J, Rudwaleit M, Sieper J and Braun J. Development of a radiographic scoring tool for ankylosing spondylitis only based on bone formation: addition of the thoracic spine improves sensitivity to change. Arthritis Rheum 2009;61(6): 764-71.
- Beaton D, Bombardier C, Escorpizo R, Zhang W, Lacaille D, Boonen A, Osborne RH, Anis AH, Strand CV and Tugwell PS. Measuring worker productivity: frameworks and measures. J Rheumatol 2009;36(9): 2100-9.
- Berglind H and Gerner U. Motivation and return to work among the long-term sicklisted: an action theory perspective. Disabil Rehabil 2002;24(14): 719-26.
- Bergman S, Herrstrom P, Hogstrom K, Petersson IF, Svensson B and Jacobsson LT. Chronic musculoskeletal pain, prevalence rates, and sociodemographic associations in a Swedish population study. J Rheumatol. 2001;28(6): 1369-77.

- Bijlsma J, da Silva J, Hachulla E, Doherty M, Cope A and Lioté F. European League Against Rheumatism Textbook on rheumatic Diseases. Italy, BMJ Group, first edition. 2012.
- Blair SN and Morris JN. Healthy hearts--and the universal benefits of being physically active: physical activity and health. Ann Epidemiol 2009;19(4): 253-6.
- Bodur H, Ataman S, Rezvani A, Bugdayci DS, Cevik R, Birtane M, Akinci A, Altay Z, Gunaydin R, Yener M, Kocyigit H, Duruoz T, Yazgan P, Cakar E, Aydin G, Hepguler S, Altan L, Kirnap M, Olmez N, Soydemir R, Kozanoglu E, Bal A, Sivrioglu K, Karkucak M and Gunendi Z. Quality of life and related variables in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. Qual Life Res 2011 May;20(4):543-9.
- Boonen A. A review of work-participation, cost-of-illness and cost-effectiveness studies in ankylosing spondylitis. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 2006;2(10): 546-53.
- Boonen A, Braun J, van der Horst Bruinsma IE, Huang F, Maksymowych W, Kostanjsek N, Cieza A, Stucki G and van der Heijde D. ASAS/WHO ICF Core Sets for ankylosing spondylitis (AS): how to classify the impact of AS on functioning and health. Ann Rheum Dis 2010a;69(1): 102-7.
- Boonen A, Brinkhuizen T, Landewe R, van der Heijde D and Severens JL. Impact of ankylosing spondylitis on sick leave, presenteeism and unpaid productivity, and estimation of the societal cost. Ann Rheum Dis 2010b;69(6): 1123-8.
- Boonen A, Chorus A, Miedema H, van der Heijde D, van der Tempel H and van der Linden S. Employment, work disability, and work days lost in patients with ankylosing spondylitis: a cross sectional study of Dutch patients. Ann Rheum Dis 2001;60(4): 353-8.
- Boonen A, van Berkel M, Cieza A, Stucki G and van der Heijde D. Which aspects of functioning are relevant for patients with ankylosing spondylitis: results of focus group interviews. J Rheumatol 2009;36(11): 2501-11.
- Boonen A, van der Heijde D, Landewe R, Spoorenberg A, Schouten H, Rutten-van Molken M, Guillemin F, Dougados M, Mielants H, de Vlam K, van der Tempel H and van der Linden S. Work status and productivity costs due to ankylosing spondylitis: comparison of three European countries. Ann Rheum Dis 2002;61(5): 429-37.
- Bostan EE, Borman P, Bodur H and Barca N. Functional disability and quality of life in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. Rheumatol Int 2003;23(3): 121-6.
- Boyer GS, Templin DW, Bowler A, Lawrence RC, Heyse SP, Everett DF, Cornoni-Huntley JC and Goring WP. Spondyloarthropathy in the community: differences in severity and disease expression in Alaskan Eskimo men and women. J Rheumatol 2000;27(1): 170-6.
- Boyer GS, Templin DW, Cornoni-Huntley JC, Everett DF, Lawrence RC, Heyse SF, Miller MM and Goring WP. Prevalence of spondyloarthropathies in Alaskan Eskimos. J Rheumatol 1994;21(12): 2292-7.
- Braun J, Bollow M, Remlinger G, Eggens U, Rudwaleit M, Distler A and Sieper J. Prevalence of spondylarthropathies in HLA-B27 positive and negative blood donors. Arthritis Rheum. 1998;41(1): 58-67.
- Braun J and Sieper J. Ankylosing spondylitis. Lancet 2007;369(9570): 1379-90.
- Braun J, van den Berg R, Baraliakos X, Boehm H, Burgos-Vargas R, Collantes-Estevez E, Dagfinrud H, Dijkmans B, Dougados M, Emery P, Geher P, Hammoudeh M, Inman RD, Jongkees M, Khan MA, Kiltz U, Kvien T, Leirisalo-Repo M, Maksymowych WP, Olivieri I, Pavelka K, Sieper J, Stanislawska-Biernat E, Wendling D, Ozgocmen S, van Drogen C, van Royen B and van der Heijde D. 2010 update of the ASAS/EULAR recommendations for the management of ankylosing spondylitis. Ann Rheum Dis 2011;70(6): 896-904.
- Bremander A, Petersson IF, Bergman S and Englund M. Population-based estimates of common comorbidities and cardiovascular disease in ankylosing spondylitis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2011;63(4): 550-6.

- Broberg C. Om teori- och begreppsutveckling i sjukgymnastik i ett historiskt perspektiv. Sjukgymnasten Vetenskapligt Suppl 2003;1: 5-17.
- Brodin N and Opava CH. Predicting general health perception and exercise habits in ankylosing spondylitis. Advances in Physiotherapy 2007;9: 23-30.
- Brophy S, Cooksey R, Davies H, Dennis MS, Zhou SM and Siebert S. The effect of physical activity and motivation on function in ankylosing spondylitis: A cohort study. Semin Arthritis Rheum 2013;42 (6):619-26.
- Bruges-Armas J, Lima C, Peixoto MJ, Santos P, Mendonca D, da Silva BM, Herrero-Beaumont G and Calin A. Prevalence of spondyloarthritis in Terceira, Azores: a population based study. Ann Rheum Dis 2002;61 (6): 551-3.
- Burton WN, Chen CY, Schultz AB, Conti DJ, Pransky G and Edington DW. Worker productivity loss associated with arthritis. Dis Manag 2006;9(3): 131-43.
- Calin A, Garrett S, Whitelock H, Kennedy LG, O'Hea J, Mallorie P and Jenkinson T. A new approach to defining functional ability in ankylosing spondylitis: the development of the Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Functional Index. J Rheumatol. 1994;21(12): 2281-5.
- Carroll LJ, Hogg-Johnson S, Cote P, van der Velde G, Holm LW, Carragee EJ, Hurwitz EL, Peloso PM, Cassidy JD, Guzman J, Nordin M, Haldeman S, Bone, Joint Decade Task Force on Neck P and Its Associated D. Course and prognostic factors for neck pain in workers: results of the Bone and Joint Decade 2000-2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2008;33(4 Suppl): S93-100.
- Carter ET, McKenna CH, Brian DD and Kurland LT. Epidemiology of Ankylosing spondylitis in Rochester, Minnesota, 1935-1973. Arthritis Rheum 1979;22(4): 365-70.
- Caspersen CJ, Powell KE and Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. Public Health Rep 1985;100(2): 126-31.
- Claudepierre P, Wendling D, Breban M, Goupillle P and Dougados M. Ankylosing spondylitis, spondyloarthropathy, spondyloarthritis, or spondylarthritis: what's in a name? Joint Bone Spine 2012;79 (6): 534-5.
- Colombo E, Latiano A, Palmieri O, Bossa F, Andriulli A and Annese V. Enteropathic spondyloarthropathy: a common genetic background with inflammatory bowel disease? World J Gastroenterol 2009;15(20): 2456-62.
- Cronstedt H, Waldner A and Stenstrom CH. The Swedish version of the Bath ankylosing spondylitis functional index. Reliability and validity. Scand J Rheumatol Suppl. 1999;111: 1-9.
- Da Costa D, Dritsa M, Ring A and Fitzcharles MA. Mental health status and leisure-time physical activity contribute to fatigue intensity in patients with spondylarthropathy. Arthritis Rheum 2004;51(6): 1004-8.
- Dagfinrud H, Kjeken I, Mowinckel P, Hagen KB and Kvien TK. Impact of functional impairment in ankylosing spondylitis: impairment, activity limitation, and participation restrictions. J Rheumatol 2005a;32(3): 516-23.
- Dagfinrud H, Kvien TK and Hagen KB. The Cochrane review of physiotherapy interventions for ankylosing spondylitis. J Rheumatol 2005b;32(10): 1899-906.
- Dagfinrud H, Kvien TK and Hagen KB. Physiotherapy interventions for ankylosing spondylitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2008;(1): CD002822.
- Dagfinrud H, Mengshoel AM, Hagen KB, Loge JH and Kvien TK. Health status of patients with ankylosing spondylitis: a comparison with the general population. Ann Rheum Dis 2004;63(12): 1605-10.
- De Angelis R, Salaffi F and Grassi W. Prevalence of spondyloarthropathies in an Italian population sample: a regional community-based study. Scand J Rheumatol 2007;36(1): 14-21.

- Demmelmaier I, Bergman P, Nordgren B, Jensen I and Opava CH. Current and maintained health-enhancing physical activity in rheumatoid arthritis - the PARA 2010 study. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2013;65 (7):1166-76.
- Dougados M, van der Linden S, Juhlin R, Huitfeldt B, Amor B, Calin A, Cats A, Dijkmans B, Olivieri I, Pasero G, Veys E and Zeidler H. The European Spondylarthropathy Study Group preliminary criteria for the classification of spondylarthropathy. Arthritis Rheum 1991;34(10): 1218-27.
- Drummond MF, Sculper MJ, Torrance GW, O'Brian BJ and Stoddart GL. Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes. USA, Oxford University press, third edition. 2005
- Dunstan DW, Barr EL, Healy GN, Salmon J, Shaw JE, Balkau B, Magliano DJ, Cameron AJ, Zimmet PZ and Owen N. Television viewing time and mortality: the Australian Diabetes, Obesity and Lifestyle Study (AusDiab). Circulation 2010;121(3): 384-91.
- Eder L, Chandran V, Shen H, Cook RJ and Gladman DD. Is ASDAS better than BASDAI as a measure of disease activity in axial psoriatic arthritis? Ann Rheum Dis 2010;69(12): 2160-4.
- Eder L, Thavaneswaran A, Chandran V and Gladman DD. Gender difference in disease expression, radiographic damage and disability among patients with psoriatic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2013;72(4): 578-82.
- Edwards I and Richardson B. Clinical reasoning and population health: decision making for an emerging paradigm of health care. Physiother Theory Pract 2008;24(3): 183-93.
- El Maghraoui A. Extra-articular manifestations of ankylosing spondylitis: prevalence, characteristics and therapeutic implications. Eur J Intern Med 2011;22(6): 554-60.
- Engel GL. The need for a new medical model: a challenge for biomedicine. Science 1977;196(4286): 129-36.
- Englbrecht M, Tarner IH, van der Heijde DM, Manger B, Bombardier C and Muller-Ladner U. Measuring pain and efficacy of pain treatment in inflammatory arthritis: a systematic literature review. J Rheumatol Suppl 2012;90: 3-10.
- Enthoven P, Skargren E, Carstensen J and Oberg B. Predictive factors for 1-year and 5-year outcome for disability in a working population of patients with low back pain treated in primary care. Pain 2006;122 (1-2): 137-44.
- Escorpizo R, Cieza A, Beaton D and Boonen A. Content comparison of worker productivity questionnaires in arthritis and musculoskeletal conditions using the International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health framework. J Occup Rehabil 2009;19(4): 382-97.
- Eurenius E and Stenstrom CH. Physical activity, physical fitness, and general health perception among individuals with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2005;53(1): 48-55.
- Fekete C and Rauch A. Correlates and determinants of physical activity in persons with spinal cord injury: A review using the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health as reference framework. Disabil Health J 2012;5(3): 140-50.
- Feldtkeller E, Lemmel EM and Russell AS. Ankylosing spondylitis in the pharaohs of ancient Egypt. Rheumatol Int. 2003;23(1): 1-5.
- Fernandez-de-Las-Penas C, Alonso-Blanco C, Alguacil-Diego IM and Miangolarra-Page JC. One-year follow-up of two exercise interventions for the management of patients with ankylosing spondylitis: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2006;85(7): 559-67.
- Filipovic I, Walker D, Forster F and Curry AS. Quantifying the economic burden of productivity loss in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2011;50(6): 1083-90.
- Fontaine KR, Heo M and Bathon J. Are US adults with arthritis meeting public health recommendations for physical activity? Arthritis Rheum 2004;50(2): 624-8.

- Garber CE, Blissmer B, Deschenes MR, Franklin BA, Lamonte MJ, Lee IM, Nieman DC, Swain DP and American College of Sports M. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: guidance for prescribing exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2011;43(7): 1334-59.
- Garrett S, Jenkinson T, Kennedy LG, Whitelock H, Gaisford P and Calin A. A new approach to defining disease status in ankylosing spondylitis: the Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index. J Rheumatol. 1994;21(12): 2286-91.
- Gavin JR, 3rd, Fox KM and Grandy S. Race/Ethnicity and Gender Differences in Health Intentions and Behaviors Regarding Exercise and Diet for Adults with Type 2 Diabetes: A Cross-sectional Analysis. BMC Public Health 2011;11(1): 533.
- Geirsson AJ, Eyjolfsdottir H, Bjornsdottir G, Kristjansson K and Gudbjornsson B. Prevalence and clinical characteristics of ankylosing spondylitis in Iceland - a nationwide study. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2010;28 (3): 333-40.
- Geuskens GA, Hazes JM, Barendregt PJ and Burdorf A. Predictors of sick leave and reduced productivity at work among persons with early inflammatory joint conditions. Scand J Work Environ Health 2008;34 (6): 420-9.
- Gladman DD, Antoni C, Mease P, Clegg DO and Nash P. Psoriatic arthritis: epidemiology, clinical features, course, and outcome. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64 Suppl 2: ii14-7.
- Gordon DA. Diagnosis and management of ankylosing spondylitis. Can Fam Physician 1977;23: 80-2.
- Gossec L, Paternotte S, Aanerud GJ, Balanescu A, Boumpas DT, Carmona L, de Wit M, Dijkmans BA, Dougados M, Englbrecht M, Gogus F, Heiberg T, Hernandez C, Kirwan JR, Mola EM, Cerinic MM, Otsa K, Schett G, Scholte-Voshaar M, Sokka T, von Krause G, Wells GA and Kvien TK. Finalisation and validation of the rheumatoid arthritis impact of disease score, a patient-derived composite measure of impact of rheumatoid arthritis: a EULAR initiative. Ann Rheum Dis 2011;70(6): 935-42.
- Gran JT. Classification and diagnosis of seronegative spondyloarthropathies. Scand J Rheumatol 1999;28(6): 332-5.
- Grovle L, Haugen AJ, Keller A, Natvig B, Brox JI and Grotle M. Poor agreement found between self-report and a public registry on duration of sickness absence. J Clin Epidemiol 2012;65(2): 212-8.
- Hagel S, Lindqvist E, Bremander A and Petersson IF. Team-based rehabilitation improves long-term aerobic capacity and health-related quality of life in patients with chronic inflammatory arthritis. Disabil Rehabil 2010;32(20): 1686-96.
- Hagel S, Lindqvist E, Petersson IF, Nilsson JA and Bremander A. Validation of outcome measurement instruments used in a multidisciplinary rehabilitation intervention for patients with chronic inflammatory arthritis: linking of the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health, construct validity and responsiveness to change. J Rehabil Med 2011;43(5): 411-9.
- Hagel S, Petersson IF, Bremander A, Lindqvist E, Bergknut C and Englund M. Trends in the first decade of 21st century healthcare utilisation in a rheumatoid arthritis cohort compared with the general population. Ann Rheum Dis 2013;72(7): 1212-6.
- Hagstromer M, Ainsworth BE, Oja P and Sjostrom M. Comparison of a subjective and an objective measure of physical activity in a population sample. J Phys Act Health 2010;7(4): 541-50.
- Halvorsen S, Vollestad NK, Fongen C, Provan SA, Semb AG, Hagen KB and Dagfinrud H. Physical fitness in patients with ankylosing spondylitis: comparison with population controls. Phys Ther 2012;92(2): 298-309.
- Hamilton-West KE and Quine L. Living with Ankylosing Spondylitis: the patient's perspective. J Health Psychol 2009;14(6): 820-30.

- Han C, Robinson DW, Jr., Hackett MV, Paramore LC, Fraeman KH and Bala MV. Cardiovascular disease and risk factors in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, psoriatic arthritis, and ankylosing spondylitis. J Rheumatol 2006;33(11): 2167-72.
- Haskell WL, Lee IM, Pate RR, Powell KE, Blair SN, Franklin BA, Macera CA, Heath GW, Thompson PD and Bauman A. Physical activity and public health: updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2007;39(8): 1423-34.
- Healey EL, Haywood KL, Jordan KP, Garratt A and Packham JC. Impact of ankylosing spondylitis on work in patients across the UK. Scand J Rheumatol 2011;40(1): 34-40.
- Healey EL, Haywood KL, Jordan KP, Garratt AM and Packham JC. Patients with well-established ankylosing spondylitis show limited deterioration in a ten-year prospective cohort study. Clin Rheumatol 2013;32 (1): 67-72.
- Heikkila S, Viitanen JV, Kautiainen H and Kauppi M. Functional long-term changes in patients with spondylarthropathy. Clin Rheumatol 2002;21(2): 119-22.
- Helmick CG, Felson DT, Lawrence RC, Gabriel S, Hirsch R, Kwoh CK, Liang MH, Kremers HM, Mayes MD, Merkel PA, Pillemer SR, Reveille JD and Stone JH. Estimates of the prevalence of arthritis and other rheumatic conditions in the United States. Part I. Arthritis Rheum 2008;58(1): 15-25.
- Hensing G, Alexanderson K, Allebeck P and Bjurulf P. How to measure sickness absence? Literature review and suggestion of five basic measures. Scand J Soc Med 1998;26(2): 133-44.
- Higgs J, Refshauge K and Ellis E. Portrait of the physiotherapy profession. J Interprof Care 2001;15(1): 79-89.
- Hootman JM, Macera CA, Ham SA, Helmick CG and Sniezek JE. Physical activity levels among the general US adult population and in adults with and without arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2003;49(1): 129-35.
- Hubertsson J, Petersson IF, Thorstensson CA and Englund M. Risk of sick leave and disability pension in working-age women and men with knee osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2013;72(3):401-5.
- Hukuda S, Minami M, Saito T, Mitsui H, Matsui N, Komatsubara Y, Makino H, Shibata T, Shingu M, Sakou T and Shichikawa K. Spondyloarthropathies in Japan: nationwide questionnaire survey performed by the Japan Ankylosing Spondylitis Society. J Rheumatol 2001;28(3): 554-9.
- Hurkmans EJ, van den Berg MH, Ronday KH, Peeters AJ, le Cessie S and Vlieland TP. Maintenance of physical activity after Internet-based physical activity interventions in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2010;49(1): 167-72.
- IPAQgroup T. Guidelines for data processing and analysis of the International Physical ActivityQuestionnaire (IPAQ). Stockholm 2005. http://www.ipaq.ki.se/scoring.pdf
- Jordan KP, Joud A, Bergknut C, Croft P, Edwards JJ, Peat G, Petersson IF, Turkiewicz A, Wilkie R and Englund M. International comparisons of the consultation prevalence of musculoskeletal conditions using population-based healthcare data from England and Sweden. Ann Rheum Dis 2013 Jan 23, epub ahead of print.
- Kaipiainen-Seppanen O, Aho K and Heliovaara M. Incidence and prevalence of ankylosing spondylitis in Finland. J Rheumatol 1997;24(3): 496-9.
- Kaipiainen-Seppanen O, Aho K, Isomaki H and Laakso M. Incidence of rheumatoid arthritis in Finland during 1980-1990. Ann Rheum Dis 1996;55(9): 608-11.
- Kaptein SA, Backman CL, Badley EM, Lacaille D, Beaton DE, Hofstetter C and Gignac MA. Choosing where to put your energy: a qualitative analysis of the role of physical activity in the lives of working adults with arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2013;65(7): 1070-6.
- Kavanaugh A, Antoni C, Mease P, Gladman D, Yan S, Bala M, Zhou B, Dooley LT, Beutler A, Guzzo C and Krueger GG. Effect of infliximab therapy on employment, time lost from work, and productivity in patients with psoriatic arthritis. J Rheumatol 2006;33(11): 2254-9.

- Keat AC, Gaffney K, Gilbert AK, Harris C and Leeder J. Influence of biologic therapy on return to work in people with work disability due to ankylosing spondylitis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2008;47(4): 481-3.
- Keefe FJ, Lefebvre JC, Egert JR, Affleck G, Sullivan MJ and Caldwell DS. The relationship of gender to pain, pain behavior, and disability in osteoarthritis patients: the role of catastrophizing. Pain 2000;87(3): 325-34.
- Khan MA. HLA-B27 and its subtypes in world populations. Curr Opin Rheumatol 1995;7(4): 263-9.
- Khan MA and van der Linden SM. Ankylosing spondylitis and other spondyloarthropathies. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 1990;16(3): 551-79.
- Kiltz U, Baraliakos X, Karakostas P, Igelmann M, Kalthoff L, Klink C, Krause D, Schmitz-Bortz E, Florecke M, Bollow M and Braun J. Do patients with non-radiographic axial spondylarthritis differ from patients with ankylosing spondylitis? Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2012;64(9): 1415-22.
- Kjeken I, Bo I, Ronningen A, Spada C, Mowinckel P, Hagen KB and Dagfinrud H. A three-week multidisciplinary in-patient rehabilitation programme had positive long-term effects in patients with ankylosing spondylitis: Randomized controlled trial. J Rehabil Med 2013;45(3): 260-7.
- Kobelt G, Andlin-Sobocki P, Brophy S, Jonsson L, Calin A and Braun J. The burden of ankylosing spondylitis and the cost-effectiveness of treatment with infliximab (Remicade). Rheumatology (Oxford). 2004;43 (9): 1158-66.
- Kristensen LE, Petersson IF, Geborek P, Joud A, Saxne T, Jacobsson LT and Englund M. Sick leave in patients with ankylosing spondylitis before and after anti-TNF therapy: a population-based cohort study. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2012;51(2): 243-9.
- Kumar A, Bansal M, Srivastava DN, Pandhi A, Menon A, Mehra NK and Malaviya AN. Long-term outcome of undifferentiated spondylarthropathy. Rheumatol Int 2001;20(6): 221-4.
- Kvamme MK, Lie E, Kvien TK and Kristiansen IS. Two-year direct and indirect costs for patients with inflammatory rheumatic joint diseases: data from real-life follow-up of patients in the NOR-DMARD registry. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2012;51(9): 1618-27.
- Leden I. Did Bechterew describe the disease which is named after him? A question raised due to the centennial of his primary report. Scand J Rheumatol 1994;23(1): 42-5.
- Lee DC, Artero EG, Sui X and Blair SN. Mortality trends in the general population: the importance of cardiorespiratory fitness. J Psychopharmacol 2010;24(4 Suppl): 27-35.
- Lee IM, Shiroma EJ, Lobelo F, Puska P, Blair SN, Katzmarzyk PT and Lancet Physical Activity Series Working G. Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. Lancet 2012;380(9838): 219-29.
- Lindström U, Bremander A, Bergman S, Haglund E, Petesson IF and Jacobsson LT. Patients with non-AS axial SpA have similar prevalence compared to AS, but worse perceived health. Results from a populatin based study. EULAR abstract SAT0253. Madrid, Spain 2013.
- Lorig K, Chastain RL, Ung E, Shoor S and Holman HR. Development and evaluation of a scale to measure perceived self-efficacy in people with arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1989;32(1): 37-44.
- Makredes M, Robinson D, Jr., Bala M and Kimball AB. The burden of autoimmune disease: a comparison of prevalence ratios in patients with psoriatic arthritis and psoriasis. J Am Acad Dermatol 2009;61(3): 405-10.
- Maksymowych WP, Gooch KL, Wong RL, Kupper H and van der Heijde D. Impact of age, sex, physical function, health-related quality of life, and treatment with adalimumab on work status and work productivity of patients with ankylosing spondylitis. J Rheumatol 2010;37(2): 385-92.
- Manning VL, Hurley MV, Scott DL and Bearne LM. Are patients meeting the updated physical activity guidelines? Physical activity participation, recommendation, and preferences among inner-city adults with rheumatic diseases. J Clin Rheumatol 2012;18(8): 399-404.

- Martindale J, Smith J, Sutton CJ, Grennan D, Goodacre L and Goodacre JA. Disease and psychological status in ankylosing spondylitis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2006;45(10): 1288-93.
- Masiero S, Bonaldo L, Pigatto M, Lo Nigro A, Ramonda R and Punzi L. Rehabilitation treatment in patients with ankylosing spondylitis stabilized with tumor necrosis factor inhibitor therapy: a randomized controlled trial. J Rheumatol 2011;38(7): 1335-42.
- Mattke S, Balakrishnan A, Bergamo G and Newberry SJ. A review of methods to measure health-related productivity loss. Am J Manag Care 2007;13(4): 211-7.
- McDonald M, DiBonaventura M and Ullman S. Musculoskeletal pain in the workforce: the effects of back, arthritis, and fibromyalgia pain on quality of life and work productivity. J Occup Environ Med 2011; 53(7): 765-70.
- Mease P. Psoriatic arthritis and spondyloarthritis assessment and management update. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2013;25(3):287-97.
- Meesters JJL, Petersson IF, Bergman S, Haglund E, Jacobsson LTH and Bremander A. Sociodemographic and disease-related factors are associated with patient-reported anxiety and depression in spondyloarhtritis patients in the population based Swedish SpAScania cohort. Submitted 2013.
- Mielants H, De Keyser F, Baeten D and Van den Bosch F. Gut inflammation in the spondyloarthropathies. Curr Rheumatol Rep 2005;7(3): 188-94.
- Moll JM and Wright V. New York clinical criteria for ankylosing spondylitis. A statistical evaluation. Ann Rheum Dis 1973a;32(4): 354-63.
- Moll JM and Wright V. Psoriatic arthritis. Semin Arthritis Rheum 1973b;3(1): 55-78.
- Mustur D, Vesovic-Potic V, Stanisavljevic D, Ille T and Ille M. Assessment of functional disability and quality of life in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. Srp Arh Celok Lek 2009;137(9-10): 524-8.
- National Board of Health and Welfare (Socialstyrelsen). National Guidelines for Methods of Preventing Disease. 2011.

http://www.socialstyrelsen.se/nationalguidelines/nationalguidelinesformethodsofpreventingdisease

- National Board of Health and Welfare (Socialstyrelsen). National Guidelines for Musculoskeletal Diseases. 2012. http://www.socialstyrelsen.se/nationalguidelines/nationalguidelinesfororthopaedicconditions
- Nossent JC and Gran JT. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of psoriatic arthritis in northern Norway. Scand J Rheumatol 2009;38(4): 251-5.
- Olivieri I, van Tubergen A, Salvarani C and van der Linden S. Seronegative spondyloarthritides. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2002;16(5): 723-39.
- Ozgocmen S, Akgul O, Altay Z, Altindag O, Baysal O, Calis M, Capkin E, Cevik R, Durmus B, Gur A, Kamanli A, Karkucak M, Madenci E, Melikoglu MA, Nas K, Senel K, Ugur M and Anatolian Group for the Assessment in Rheumatic D. Expert opinion and key recommendations for the physical therapy and rehabilitation of patients with ankylosing spondylitis. Int J Rheum Dis 2012;15(3): 229-38.
- Passalent LA, Soever LJ, O'Shea FD and Inman RD. Exercise in ankylosing spondylitis: discrepancies between recommendations and reality. J Rheumatol 2010;37(4): 835-41.
- Pate RR, Pratt M, Blair SN, Haskell WL, Macera CA, Bouchard C, Buchner D, Ettinger W, Heath GW, King AC, Kriska A, Leon AS, Marcus BH, Morris J, Paffenbarger RS, Patrick K, Pollock ML, Rippe JM, Sallis J and Wilmore JH. Physical activity and public health. A recommendation from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American College of Sports Medicine. Jama 1995;273(5): 402-7.
- Prasad M, Wahlqvist P, Shikiar R and Shih YC. A review of self-report instruments measuring health-related work productivity: a patient-reported outcomes perspective. Pharmacoeconomics 2004;22(4): 225-44.
- Prince SA, Adamo KB, Hamel ME, Hardt J, Gorber SC and Tremblay M. A comparison of direct versus selfreport measures for assessing physical activity in adults: a systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2008;6;5:56.

- Prodinger B, Cieza A, Williams DA, Mease P, Boonen A, Kerschan-Schindl K, Fialka-Moser V, Smolen J, Stucki G, Machold K and Stamm T. Measuring health in patients with fibromyalgia: content comparison of questionnaires based on the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health. Arthritis Rheum 2008;59(5): 650-8.
- Rafia R, Ara R, Packham J, Haywood KL and Healey E. Healthcare costs and productivity losses directly attributable to ankylosing spondylitis. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2012;30(2): 246-53.
- Reilly MC, Gooch KL, Wong RL, Kupper H and van der Heijde D. Validity, reliability and responsiveness of the Work Productivity and Activity Impairment Questionnaire in ankylosing spondylitis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2010;49(4): 812-9.
- Reilly MC, Zbrozek AS and Dukes EM. The validity and reproducibility of a work productivity and activity impairment instrument. Pharmacoeconomics 1993;4(5): 353-65.
- Reveille JD and Arnett FC. Spondyloarthritis: update on pathogenesis and management. Am J Med 2005;118(6): 592-603.
- Reveille JD, Witter JP and Weisman MH. Prevalence of axial spondylarthritis in the United States: estimates from a cross-sectional survey. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2012;64(6): 905-10.
- Rohekar S and Pope J. Assessment of work disability in seronegative spondyloarthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2010;28(1): 35-40.
- Roussou E and Sultana S. Early spondyloarthritis in multiracial society: differences between gender, race, and disease subgroups with regard to first symptom at presentation, main problem that the disease is causing to patients, and employment status. Rheumatol Int 2012;32(6): 1597-604.
- Roussou E and Sultana S. Spondyloarthritis in women: differences in disease onset, clinical presentation, and Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity and Functional indices (BASDAI and BASFI) between men and women with spondyloarthritides. Clin Rheumatol 2011;30(1): 121-7.
- Rudwaleit M. New approaches to diagnosis and classification of axial and peripheral spondyloarthritis. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2010;22(4): 375-80.
- Rudwaleit M and Baeten D. Ankylosing spondylitis and bowel disease. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2006;20 (3): 451-71.
- Rudwaleit M, Haibel H, Baraliakos X, Listing J, Marker-Hermann E, Zeidler H, Braun J and Sieper J. The early disease stage in axial spondylarthritis: results from the German Spondyloarthritis Inception Cohort. Arthritis Rheum 2009a;60(3): 717-27.
- Rudwaleit M, Landewe R, van der Heijde D, Listing J, Brandt J, Braun J, Burgos-Vargas R, Collantes-Estevez E, Davis J, Dijkmans B, Dougados M, Emery P, van der Horst-Bruinsma IE, Inman R, Khan MA, Leirisalo-Repo M, van der Linden S, Maksymowych WP, Mielants H, Olivieri I, Sturrock R, de Vlam K and Sieper J. The development of Assessment of SpondyloArthritis international Society classification criteria for axial spondyloarthritis (part I): classification of paper patients by expert opinion including uncertainty appraisal. Ann Rheum Dis. 2009b;68(6): 770-6.
- Rudwaleit M, van der Heijde D, Landewe R, Akkoc N, Brandt J, Chou CT, Dougados M, Huang F, Gu J, Kirazli Y, Van den Bosch F, Olivieri I, Roussou E, Scarpato S, Sorensen IJ, Valle-Onate R, Weber U, Wei J and Sieper J. The Assessment of SpondyloArthritis International Society classification criteria for peripheral spondyloarthritis and for spondyloarthritis in general. Ann Rheum Dis 2011;70(1): 25-31.
- Rudwaleit M, van der Heijde D, Landewe R, Listing J, Akkoc N, Brandt J, Braun J, Chou CT, Collantes-Estevez E, Dougados M, Huang F, Gu J, Khan MA, Kirazli Y, Maksymowych WP, Mielants H, Sorensen IJ, Ozgocmen S, Roussou E, Valle-Onate R, Weber U, Wei J and Sieper J. The development of Assessment of SpondyloArthritis international Society classification criteria for axial spondyloarthritis (part II): validation and final selection. Ann Rheum Dis 2009c;68(6): 777-83.
- Sallis JF and Saelens BE. Assessment of physical activity by self-report: status, limitations, and future directions. Res Q Exerc Sport 2000;71(2 Suppl): S1-14.

- Sandhu J, Packham JC, Healey EL, Jordan KP, Garratt AM and Haywood KL. Evaluation of a modified arthritis self-efficacy scale for an ankylosing spondylitis UK population. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2011;29 (2):223-30.
- Saraux A, Guedes C, Allain J, Devauchelle V, Valls I, Lamour A, Guillemin F, Youinou P and Le Goff P. Prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis and spondyloarthropathy in Brittany, France. Societe de Rhumatologie de l'Ouest. J Rheumatol 1999;26(12): 2622-7.
- Saraux A, Guillemin F, Guggenbuhl P, Roux CH, Fardellone P, Le Bihan E, Cantagrel A, Chary-Valckenaere I, Euller-Ziegler L, Flipo RM, Juvin R, Behier JM, Fautrel B, Masson C and Coste J. Prevalence of spondyloarthropathies in France: 2001. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64(10): 1431-5.
- Sassen B, Cornelissen VA, Kiers H, Wittink H, Kok G and Vanhees L. Physical fitness matters more than physical activity in controlling cardiovascular disease risk factors. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2009;16(6): 677-83.
- Schultz AB and Edington DW. Employee health and presenteeism: a systematic review. J Occup Rehabil 2007;17(3): 547-79.
- Shbeeb M, Uramoto KM, Gibson LE, O'Fallon WM and Gabriel SE. The epidemiology of psoriatic arthritis in Olmsted County, Minnesota, USA, 1982-1991. J Rheumatol 2000;27(5): 1247-50.
- Sieper J and Braun J. How important is early therapy in axial spondyloarthritis? Rheum Dis Clin North Am 2012;38(3): 635-42.
- Sieper J, Braun J, Rudwaleit M, Boonen A and Zink A. Ankylosing spondylitis: an overview. Ann Rheum Dis 2002;61 Suppl 3: iii8-18.
- Sieper J, Rudwaleit M, Baraliakos X, Brandt J, Braun J, Burgos-Vargas R, Dougados M, Hermann KG, Landewe R, Maksymowych W and van der Heijde D. The Assessment of SpondyloArthritis international Society (ASAS) handbook: a guide to assess spondyloarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2009a;68 Suppl 2: ii1-44.
- Sieper J, Rudwaleit M, Khan MA and Braun J. Concepts and epidemiology of spondyloarthritis. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2006;20(3): 401-17.
- Sieper J and van der Heijde D. Review: Nonradiographic axial spondyloarthritis: New definition of an old disease? Arthritis Rheum 2013;65(3): 543-51.
- Sieper J, van der Heijde D, Landewe R, Brandt J, Burgos-Vagas R, Collantes-Estevez E, Dijkmans B, Dougados M, Khan MA, Leirisalo-Repo M, van der Linden S, Maksymowych WP, Mielants H, Olivieri I and Rudwaleit M. New criteria for inflammatory back pain in patients with chronic back pain: a real patient exercise by experts from the Assessment of SpondyloArthritis international Society (ASAS). Ann Rheum Dis 2009b;68(6): 784-8.
- Sieverdes JC, Sui X, Lee DC, Church TS, McClain A, Hand GA and Blair SN. Physical activity, cardiorespiratory fitness and the incidence of type 2 diabetes in a prospective study of men. Br J Sports Med 2010;44(4): 238-44.
- Silman A, Ed. (2001). Epidemiology of the Rheumatic Diseases. Ankylosing spondylitis and spondylarthropathies. Oxford, University Press. 2001;100-11.
- Singh JA and Strand V. Spondyloarthritis is associated with poor function and physical health-related quality of life. J Rheumatol 2009;36(5): 1012-20.
- Slobodin G, Reyhan I, Avshovich N, Balbir-Gurman A, Boulman N, Elias M, Feld J, Mader R, Markovitz D, Rimar D, Rosner I, Rozenbaum M, Zisman D and Odeh M. Recently diagnosed axial spondyloarthritis: gender differences and factors related to delay in diagnosis. Clin Rheumatol 2011;30(8): 1075-80.
- Slootmaker SM, Schuit AJ, Chinapaw MJ, Seidell JC and van Mechelen W. Disagreement in physical activity assessed by accelerometer and self-report in subgroups of age, gender, education and weight status. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2009;6: 17.

- Staalesen Strumse YA, Nordvag BY, Stanghelle JK, Roisland M, Winther A, Pajunen PA, Garen T and Flato B. Efficacy of rehabilitation for patients with ankylosing spondylitis: comparison of a four-week rehabilitation programme in a Mediterranean and a Norwegian setting. J Rehabil Med 2011;43(6): 534-42.
- Stamm T, Hieblinger R, Bostrom C, Mihai C, Birrell F, Thorstensson C, Fialka-Moser V, Meriaux-Kratochvila S, Smolen J and Coenen M. Similar Problem in the Activities of Daily Living but Different Experience: A Qualitative Analysis in Six Rheumatic Conditions and Eight European Countries. Musculoskeletal Care 2013 Jan 30, epub ahead of print.
- Statistics Sweden. http://www.scb.se. 2012.
- Sternfeld B and Goldman-Rosas L. A systematic approach to selecting an appropriate measure of self-reported physical activity or sedentary behavior. J Phys Act Health 2012;9 Suppl 1: 19-28.
- Strombeck B, Englund M, Bremander A, Jacobsson LT, Kedza L, Kobelt G and Petersson IF. Cost of Illness from the Public Payers' Perspective in Patients with Ankylosing Spondylitis in Rheumatological Care. J Rheumatol 2010;37:2348-55.
- Strombeck B, Jacobsson LT, Bremander A, Englund M, Heide A, Turkiewicz A and Petersson IF. Patients with ankylosing spondylitis have increased sick leave--a registry-based case-control study over 7 yrs. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2009;48(3): 289-92.
- Stucki G. International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health (ICF): a promising framework and classification for rehabilitation medicine. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2005;84(10): 733-40.
- Stucki G, Boonen A, Tugwell P, Cieza A and Boers M. The World Health Organisation International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health: a conceptual model and interface for the OMERACT process. J Rheumatol 2007;34(3): 600-6.
- Sundstrom B, Ekergard H and Sundelin G. Exercise habits among patients with ankylosing spondylitis. A questionnaire based survey in the County of Vasterbotten, Sweden. Scand J Rheumatol 2002;31(3): 163-7.
- Swedish State Institute of Public Health. National health survey. Health on equal terms. Merging of data from the period 2007-2010. 2010. http://www.fhi.se/Statistik-uppfoljning/Nationella-folkhalsoenkaten/Levnadsvanor/Fysisk-aktivitet/
- Taylor W, Gladman D, Helliwell P, Marchesoni A, Mease P and Mielants H. Classification criteria for psoriatic arthritis: development of new criteria from a large international study. Arthritis Rheum 2006;54(8): 2665-73.
- Tengland PA. The concept of work ability. J Occup Rehabil 2011;21(2): 275-85.
- TheEuroQulGroup. EuroQol a new facility for the measurement of health-Related Quality of Life. 1990;16(3): 199-208.
- Tobin AM, Veale DJ, Fitzgerald O, Rogers S, Collins P, O'Shea D and Kirby B. Cardiovascular disease and risk factors in patients with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. J Rheumatol 2010;37(7): 1386-94.
- Tournadre A, Pereira B, Lhoste A, Dubost J, Ristori J, Claudepierre P, Dougados M and Soubrier M. Differences between women and men with recent onset axial spondyloarthritis: Results from the DESIR cohort. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2013;65(9): 1482-9
- Trontzas P, Andrianakos A, Miyakis S, Pantelidou K, Vafiadou E, Garantziotou V and Voudouris C. Seronegative spondyloarthropathies in Greece: a population-based study of prevalence, clinical pattern, and management. The ESORDIG study. Clin Rheumatol 2005;24(6): 583-9.
- Tuomi K, Huuhtanen P, Nykyri E and Ilmarinen J. Promotion of work ability, the quality of work and retirement. Occup Med (Lond) 2001;51(5): 318-24.
- UKK Institute. Physical activity pie. Finland. 2009. http://www.ukkinstituutti.fi/en/products/physical_activity_pie

- U.S Department of Health & Services. Physical activity guidelines for Americans. 2008. http://www.health.gov/paguidelines/guidelines/glossary.aspx
- Waddell G, Burton K and Aylward M. Work and common health problems. J Insur Med 2007;39(2): 109-20.
- Waldner A, Cronstedt H and Stenstrom CH. The Swedish version of the Bath ankylosing spondylitis disease activity index. Reliability and validity. Scand J Rheumatol Suppl. 1999;111: 10-6.
- van den Berg R, Baraliakos X, Braun J and van der Heijde D. First update of the current evidence for the management of ankylosing spondylitis with non-pharmacological treatment and non-biologic drugs: a systematic literature review for the ASAS/EULAR management recommendations in ankylosing spondylitis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2012;51(8): 1388-96.
- van der Heijde D, Han C, DeVlam K, Burmester G, van den Bosch F, Williamson P, Bala M, Han J and Braun J. Infliximab improves productivity and reduces workday loss in patients with ankylosing spondylitis: results from a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Arthritis Rheum 2006;55(4): 569-74.
- van der Heijde D, Sieper J, Maksymowych WP, Dougados M, Burgos-Vargas R, Landewe R, Rudwaleit M, Braun J and Assessment of SpondyloArthritis international S. 2010 Update of the international ASAS recommendations for the use of anti-TNF agents in patients with axial spondyloarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2011;70(6): 905-8.
- van der Heijde D, van der Linden S, Bellamy N, Calin A, Dougados M and Khan MA. Which domains should be included in a core set for endpoints in ankylosing spondylitis? Introduction to the ankylosing spondylitis module of OMERACT IV. J Rheumatol 1999;26(4): 945-7.
- van der Linden S, Valkenburg HA and Cats A. Evaluation of diagnostic criteria for ankylosing spondylitis. A proposal for modification of the New York criteria. Arthritis Rheum. 1984;27(4): 361-8.
- van Tubergen A, Debats I, Ryser L, Londono J, Burgos-Vargas R, Cardiel MH, Landewe R, Stucki G and Van Der Heijde D. Use of a numerical rating scale as an answer modality in ankylosing spondylitis-specific questionnaires. Arthritis Rheum 2002;47(3): 242-8.
- Warburton DE, Nicol CW and Bredin SS. Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. CMAJ 2006;174(6): 801-9.
- Ward MM. Health-related quality of life in ankylosing spondylitis: a survey of 175 patients. Arthritis Care Res 1999;12(4): 247-55.
- Ward MM. Predictors of the progression of functional disability in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. J Rheumatol 2002;29(7): 1420-5.
- Ward MM and Kuzis S. Risk factors for work disability in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. J Rheumatol 2001;28(2): 315-21.
- Ward MM, Learch TJ, Gensler LS, Davis JC, Jr., Reveille JD and Weisman MH. Regional radiographic damage and functional limitations in patients with ankylosing spondylitis: differences in early and late disease. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2013;65(2): 257-65.
- Waterhouse J, Muir C, Correa P and Powell J. Cancer Incidence in Five Continents. Lyon: IARC Scientific Publication.1976;Vol III.
- Weisman MH, Witter JP and Reveille JD. The prevalence of inflammatory back pain: population-based estimates from the US National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2009-10. Ann Rheum Dis 2013;72(3): 369-73.
- Verstappen SM, Fautrel B, Dadoun S, Symmons DP and Boonen A. Methodological issues when measuring paid productivity loss in patients with arthritis using biologic therapies: an overview of the literature. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2012;51(2): 216-29.
- WHO. 2002 Exercise and physical activity conference. St. Louis, Missouri. Population approaches to health promotion and disability prevention through physical activity (abstract). Arthritis & Rheumatism.2003;49: 477.

- WHO. The world health report 2002: reducing risk, promoting healthy life.2002. http://www.who.int/whr/2002/en/whr02_en.pdf
- WHO. Global recommendations on physical activity for health. W. H. Organization. Geneva, Switzerland, WHO Press. 2010. http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2010/9789241599979_eng.pdf
- WHO. WHO International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF). 2012a. http://www.who.int/classifications/icf/en/
- WHO/FIMS. Exercise for health. WHO/FIMS Committee on Physical Activity for Health. Bull World Health Organ 1995;(73): 135-6.
- Wilson FC, Icen M, Crowson CS, McEvoy MT, Gabriel SE and Kremers HM. Time trends in epidemiology and characteristics of psoriatic arthritis over 3 decades: a population-based study. J Rheumatol 2009;36 (2): 361-7.
- Vliet Vlieland TP and Li LC. Rehabilitation in rheumatoid arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis: differences and similarities. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2009;27(4 Suppl 55): S171-8.
- World Confederation for Physical Therapy (WCPT). Description of physical therapy. 2012. http://www.wcpt.org/policy/ps-descriptionPT.
- Zeng QY, Chen R, Darmawan J, Xiao ZY, Chen SB, Wigley R, Le Chen S and Zhang NZ. Rheumatic diseases in China. Arthritis Res Ther 2008;10(1): R17.
- Zhang W, Gignac MA, Beaton D, Tang K, Anis AH and Canadian Arthritis Network Work Productivity G. Productivity loss due to presenteeism among patients with arthritis: estimates from 4 instruments. J Rheumatol 2010;37(9): 1805-14.
- Zhu TY, Li EK and Tam LS. Cardiovascular risk in patients with psoriatic arthritis. Int J Rheumatol 2012: 714321.
- Zigmond AS and Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1983;67(6): 361-70.
- Zink A, Braun J, Listing J and Wollenhaupt J. Disability and handicap in rheumatoid arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis--results from the German rheumatological database. German Collaborative Arthritis Centers. J Rheumatol 2000;27(3): 613-22.
- Zochling J and Smith EU. Seronegative spondyloarthritis. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2010;24(6): 747-56.
- Zochling J, van der Heijde D, Burgos-Vargas R, Collantes E, Davis JC, Jr., Dijkmans B, Dougados M, Geher P, Inman RD, Khan MA, Kvien TK, Leirisalo-Repo M, Olivieri I, Pavelka K, Sieper J, Stucki G, Sturrock RD, van der Linden S, Wendling D, Bohm H, van Royen BJ, Braun J. ASAS/EULAR recommendations for the management of ankylosing spondylitis. Ann Rheum Dis 2006a;65(4): 442-52.
- Zochling J, van der Heijde D, Dougados M and Braun J. Current evidence for the management of ankylosing spondylitis: a systematic literature review for the ASAS/EULAR management recommendations in ankylosing spondylitis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2006b;65(4): 423-32.

Appendix 1. Questions on physical activity based on the WHO recommendation. (Frågor om fysisk aktivitet)

Fysisk aktivitet är all aktivitet som får Ditt hjärta att slå snabbare och som gör dig andfådd och varm. Fysisk aktivitet kan man hålla på med i idrottssammanhang, på fritiden, eller i vardagen. Några exempel på fysisk aktivitet är att promenera, cykla, dansa men också dammsuga eller arbeta i trädgården. När Du svarar på nedanstående frågor, **lägg ihop all tid som Du är fysiskt aktiv varje dag**. Sätt ett kryss i rutan för det alternativ som du tycker stämmer in bäst på dig.

2.5 Hur många dagar under en vanlig typisk vecka är du fysiskt aktiv sammanlagt minst 30 minuter om dagen?



Träning är en form av fysisk aktivitet som är planerad och strukturerad. Träning utförs för att förbättra valda aspekter av hälsa, så som kondition eller styrka. Några exempel på träning är löpning, raska promenader, åka skidor, simma eller gymnastisera Sätt ett kryss i rutan för det alternativ som du tycker stämmer in bäst på dig.

2.6 Hur ofta brukar du vanligtvis träna så att du blir andfådd eller svettas?

- Varje dag 4-5 gånger i veckan 2-3 gånger i veckan En gång i veckan 1-2 gånger i mån Mindre än 1 gång/mån Aldrig
- 2.7 Om du tränar, i genomsnitt hur länge brukar du vanligtvis träna varje gång?

Mindre än 15 minuter 15-30 minuter 31-60 minuter Mer än 1 timme Appendix 2. Questions on work productivity based on the WPAI questionnarie. (Frågor om produktivitet i arbetet)

1.11 Har du under den **senaste veckan** upplevt dig vara mindre produktiv på arbetet än du brukar vara pga värk eller trötthet?

Ja Nej

Om Ja,

1.11.1 Under den senaste veckan, i vilken utsträckning påverkade din reumatiska ryggsjukdom din produktivitet <u>medan du arbetade</u>? Tänk på de dagar då det fanns begränsningar i den mängd eller typ av arbete du kunde utföra, dagar då du uträttade mindre än du önskade eller dagar då du inte kunde göra ditt arbete så noggrant som vanligt. Om din reumatiska ryggsjukdom påverkade ditt arbete i endast mindre grad väljer du att nedan ringa in ett lågt procenttal. Ringa in ett högt procenttal om din reumatiska ryggsjukdom påverkade ditt arbete avsevärt.

Ta bara hänsyn till i vilken utsträckning din reumatiska ryggsjukdom påverkade din produktivitet medan du arbetade

0<u>% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%</u>

Min reumatiska ryggsjukdom hade ingen påverkan på mitt arbete Min reumatiska ryggsjukdom hindrade mig fullständigt från att arbeta

Emma Haglund

From a physiotherapist's perspective Emma Haglund has an interest in inflammatory rheumatic diseases with a focus on patients with inflammatory back pain; spondyloarthritis. In her PhD-thesis she describes the prevalence of spondyloarthritis and explores the consequences of the disease for the individual and for society regarding physical activity and work productivity.

The four studies included in the thesis are based on a large cohort of patients with spondyloarthritis in Skåne. The findings provide valuable epidemiological information on prevalence rates of spondyloarthritis and its subgroups, and physi-



cal activity patterns also in comparison with the general Swedish population. The thesis gives a useful insight in predictive factors for reduced productivity at work by using simple clinical questionnaires in routine practice.

Emma Haglund has a background as a physiotherapist specialized in rheumatology, and works at Spenshult Hospital, Halmstad. As a practicing physiotherapist with regular contact with this group of patients, she highlights the need of better knowledge of characteristic symptoms for an early diagnose. She also emphasizes the importance of the insight in factors for a better or worse prognosis. Her main interest for the future is how to coach these patients to a better health-related quality of life in order to maintain a healthy level of physical activity and work ability. This PhD-thesis presents the results from her research education in rheumatology at the Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund, Faculty of Medicine, Lund University.



Faculty of Medicine

Section of Rheumatology Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2013:107 ISBN 978-91-87449-79-6 ISSN 1652-8220